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Objective

The objective of Mithras Investment Trust plc (the “Company” or “Mithras”) is to achieve over

the longer term a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested.

Investment Policy

Following the resolution passed at the General Meeting on Friday, 30 January 2009, the

Company will make no new limited partnership commitments. The Company’s investment

policy is to invest, via its commitment to the Mithras Capital Fund, predominantly in

European limited partnership buyout funds but it also has the ability to invest in US focused

limited partnership buyout funds.

The Company will make no new investments in listed vehicles.

No individual underlying portfolio company within any fund which the Company is

committed to will represent more than 15% of the Company’s gross assets.

The Company may use gearing to meet its investment objective. The Company will ensure that

the ratio of total consolidated assets after deducting current liabilities to total net debt is at least

3:1.

Dividends and Return of Capital

No less than 85% of the revenue generated by private equity investments will be paid as

dividends. The Company will pay the minimum dividend required to maintain investment

trust status. When reasonably practicable, the Company will return surplus cash to shareholders

consistent with cash balances and banking covenants, whether by way of dividend, share buy

backs, reduction of capital or otherwise.

Capital Gains

As Mithras is an investment trust, capital appreciation within the Company

is free of tax.

Registered in England & Wales

No. 2478424
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

TOTAL RETURN ON EQUITY*

FTSE
Mithras All-Share Index

Year ended 31 December 2008 0.2% (29.9)%

From flotation on 21 February 1994 to 31 December 2008 244.0% 113.8%

*Group total return after tax before dividends, attributable to equity holders on opening equity holders’ funds.

The Group consists of the Company and its subsidiaries.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

Year ended Year ended % change compared
31 December 2008 31 December 2007 to previous year

Revenue return before tax £1.89 million £2.19 million (13.7)%

Total expense ratio 3.6%# 3.2%† 12.5%

Net dividends per ordinary share

Proposed final* 2.00 pence 2.00 pence 0.0%

Proposed special* 3.00 pence 2.00 pence 50.0%

Net asset value per ordinary share 128.4 pence 132.1 pence (2.8)%

Mid market quoted share price 69.0 pence 93.5 pence (26.2)%

#Excluding the costs of exploring options to realise value since the Company’s most recent Annual General

Meeting (“AGM”), the total expense ratio would be 3.1%.

†Excluding write back of prior years’ VAT.

*Proposed dividends, if approved by shareholders at the AGM, are paid in the calendar year following

proposal. Further information can be found in note 11 to the Financial Statements on page 56 and in the

Financial Calendar on page 76.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Results and Dividend

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the

Company’s net asset value (“NAV”) decreased from 132.1

pence per share to 128.4 pence per share, a decrease of

2.8%. The share price decreased from 93.5 pence to 69.0

pence over the same period. The total return on equity

was 0.2% (2007: 23.7%) compared to the Group’s

benchmark, the FTSE All-Share Index, which fell 29.9%

(2007: increased by 5.3%). The return since the

Company’s flotation in 1994 is 244.0% against the

benchmark return of 113.8%. 

The consolidated revenue return to equity holders for the

year increased 15.4% to £1.8 million in 2008 (2007: £1.6

million). Given the level of cash and revenue reserves,

your Board is recommending to shareholders that

dividends totalling 5.0 pence per share (2007: 4.0 pence)

be paid, 2.0 pence per share will be paid as a final

dividend and 3.0 pence per share paid as a special

dividend in lieu of an interim dividend in 2009.

The proposed final dividend, if approved by shareholders,

will be paid on 18 May 2009 to shareholders on the

register at the close of business on 27 March 2009. The

proposed special dividend will be paid on 30 October

2009 to shareholders on the register at the close of

business on 25 September 2009.

Strategy

Following the 2008 AGM where shareholders passed a

resolution directing the Board to put forward proposals

for the orderly winding up of the Company or alternative

ways of crystallising value, the Board embarked on a

strategic review. The Board considered a wide range of

proposals from a variety of external parties. Unfortunately,

difficult market conditions and a worsening economic

environment meant that none of the proposals would

have provided acceptable value for shareholders. As a

result of this review, the Board recommended to

shareholders the following course of action which was

approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on

30 January 2009:

• That the Company make no new commitments to

private equity funds and focuses all investment

activity on meeting existing commitments which are

predominantly through its commitment to Mithras

Capital Fund LP (“MCF”);

• That the Company return surplus cash to

shareholders when reasonably practicable;

• That the Company continue to encourage value-

enhancing proposals with a view to crystallising value

for all shareholders at a future date and in a more

favourable economic and financial environment.

The Company’s existing cash reserves of £11.6 million,

together with the availability of an undrawn medium

term credit facility of up to £35 million, mean that the

Company currently has adequate liquidity to finance

undrawn commitments which total £30.4 million at

31 December 2008.

Change of Investment Manager

As a result of the strategic review and following a

review of the management arrangements, your Board

has agreed that Mithras Capital Partners LLP (“MCP”)

will assume responsibility for the management of the

Company, effectively making the Company self

managed. Mr Adrian Johnson, Chairman and Mr

Bernie Boylan, Managing Partner of MCP, ensure

continuity in the management of the Company having

both been actively involved with the Company for a

number of years. MCP will replace the current

Investment Manager, LGV Capital Limited (“LGV”),

on 1 April 2009. Your Board wishes to acknowledge

the significant contribution of LGV as Investment

Manager of the Company since its formation in 1991

and is extremely grateful for its support over the years.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

Notice to Remove General Partner of MCF

As announced on 5 March 2009, the Company has

received notice from Legal & General Assurance Society

Limited (“LGAS”) of its intention to remove the General

Partner of MCF without cause and subject to certain

conditions. The Company is in discussions with LGAS

but is not currently in a position to ascertain whether these

conditions will be satisfied and, accordingly, whether the

General Partner will be removed or whether service of the

notice will have any other consequences for the Company.

Portfolio

The Company has a £60 million commitment to MCF,

the private equity fund of funds vehicle managed by MCP.

During the year, MCF has drawn down £16.3 million

from the Company to meet underlying fund investment

requirements, bringing the total commitment drawn

down to £31.0 million. MCF generated value for the

Company’s shareholders of £4.0 million during the year

from the realisation and revaluation of unquoted funds.

The LGV managed portfolio now comprises three

portfolio company investments, Jeyes (via LGV 2) and

Total Fitness and LGC (via LGV 3), following significant

realisation activity during the year. The LGV partnerships

generated value for the Company’s shareholders of £1.1

million during the year from the realisation and

revaluation of unquoted investments. Outstanding

commitments to LGV partnerships now total £1.4 million

as at 31 December 2008.

The underlying fund commitments in MCF are valued

based upon the latest NAV of those funds ascertained from

the most recent periodic valuation. Given the nature and

timeliness of the reporting cycle for all underlying fund

commitments, the valuation information provided by

each underlying fund is typically more than 90 days old at

the time each quarterly NAV is reported. Following the 

global economic volatility experienced during the fourth

quarter of 2008, your Board has sought a more up to date

indication of the fair value at 31 December 2008 from all

underlying managers and this has been reflected as a

Directors’ valuation adjustment in the year end NAV.

The impact of the current economic environment at

31 December 2008 has primarily been seen in declining

multiples used in valuing companies in the portfolio. In

addition, some companies are now starting to see an

impact on trading.

The Company has benefited from favourable exchange

rate movements on its fund investments by £8.7 million.

The Company made investments of £18.0 million in the

LPX Quoted Private Equity Index, in order to maintain

exposure to private equity and reduce cash balances until

MCF became more fully drawn. During the strategic

review, in order to reduce volatility, the entire quoted

portfolio was subsequently sold realising a loss of £4.4

million. The disposal of the quoted portfolio commenced

Asset allocation as a percentage of total assets

£48.7m at Dec 07 £47.0m at Dec 08
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT CONTINUED

on 17 September 2008 and was completed in October

2008. In the period following the decision to sell, the LPX

Index fell 38.4% to 31 December 2008. In addition, all

quoted corporate bonds held by the Company were sold

during the year realising a gain of £0.1 million.

Outlook

In the volatile and extreme market conditions which are

faced by the Company and the private equity industry

generally, the Company’s strategy is now focused entirely

on generating cash returns for shareholders as soon as

practicable within the constraints of the outstanding

commitments, principally to MCF. However, market

conditions mean that realisations are now more difficult

and investment activity has slowed, in part because of the

lack of available finance. It is likely that these conditions

will not improve substantially before 2010 at the earliest,

portfolio companies are likely to continue to experience

difficult trading conditions and valuation multiples may

decline further. 

Future movement in foreign exchange rates will also

impact the Company. �e underlying MCF fund

commitments already drawn will continue to be exposed

to US Dollar and Euro exchange rate fluctuations, whilst

undrawn commitments are predominately exposed to

fluctuations in the Euro.

�e Company is in a sound financial position and does

not face the issues of over-commitment or excess leverage

which are affecting others in its peer group. �e balance

and nature of the MCF portfolio means that the

Company is relatively well positioned to benefit from 

any upturn in markets, albeit this is unlikely to be in the

short term.

Mike Wooderson

Chairman

13 March 2009
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INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW

FUND COMMITMENT AND INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

*Original Outstanding
Commitment Drawndown Repaid Commitment

Fund £m £m £m £m

LGV 2 6.1 5.1 6.3 0.3

LGV 3 7.5 6.4 5.5 1.1

LGV 4 7.9 6.8 19.0 _

LGV 5 10.0 2.5 6.2 –

MCF 60.0 31.0 2.4 29.0

*Original commitment net of commitments released by LGV.

The market backdrop in the second half of 2008 featured

unprecedented market volatility, steep equity market

declines and the worst credit market conditions in more

than 50 years. Following a period of cheap and easy access

to credit, the lending environment has swung to the

opposite extreme. Banks have had to de-leverage and

rebuild their capital base, and some have entered public

ownership to remain in business.

Against this backdrop, 2008 has again seen a strong

performance by the Company with continued cash

generation from realisations in the LGV portfolio and the

first realisations in the MCF portfolio. Valuations came

under pressure in both portfolios at the end of the year,

reflecting reduced market earnings multiples and tougher

trading conditions faced by some investee companies.

Following the change in investment policy to make no

new commitments to private equity partnerships, the

Company remains well positioned at this stage in the

investment cycle.

Results for the Year

The Group’s total return for the year was 0.2% (2007:

23.7%) in comparison to the Group’s benchmark, the

FTSE All-Share Index’s return of (29.9)% (2007: 5.3%).

The Group’s NAV has decreased slightly from 132.1

pence per share to 128.4 pence per share during the year.

The Board has recommended dividends totalling 5.0

pence per share (2007: 4.0 pence) due to the level of cash

and revenue reserves held within the Group and to

maintain investment trust status.

Investment Activity

MCF made its last new commitment to CVC European

Equity Partners V in early 2008. The Company’s share of

this commitment was € 15 million. Following this

commitment, MCF closed its commitment period

meaning that no new commitments will be made to

private equity limited partnership funds. MCF will now

concentrate its investment activity on monitoring its

current underlying investment portfolio and meeting its

existing outstanding commitments. During the year,

MCF has drawn down £16.3 million from the Company

to meet drawdowns due and expected from its

underlying fund commitments, with OCM Principal

Opportunities Fund IV and Riverside Europe III in

particular being very active. These two commitments are

now either fully or substantially drawn. Of the

Company’s £60 million commitment to MCF, £29.0

million was uncalled at 31 December 2008.
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In addition to the above, the Company paid £0.1 million

into LGV 3 to meet partnership expenses. LGV 2 and

LGV 3 are fully invested, subject to drawdowns for

follow-on investments, and the Company has

outstanding commitments to these funds at 31 December

2008 of £0.3 million and £1.1 million respectively. There

are no outstanding commitments to LGV 4 and LGV 5,

which are fully realised and will be wound up in due

course.

The Company had surplus funds above the drawndown

commitments to private equity partnerships. These

surplus funds of £11.6 million are invested in cash in line

with the revised investment strategy.

Realisations and Repayments

Prior to the dramatic change in market conditions, a

number of investments were realised in the first quarter of

2008. The Company received cash proceeds totalling

£8.7 million, including rolled up income of £0.6 million,

from the realisation of IDH and Verna Group in February

2008, and Classic Hospitals in March 2008. In addition

to the proceeds above, the Company received £1.4

million in July 2008 following the sale of Craegmoor

Healthcare. £0.1 million of deferred sale proceeds were

received in October 2008 relating to Verna Group.

IDH

The Company invested £1.1 million in IDH, the UK’s

largest owner of dental practices, in April 2006 via LGV

5. In February 2008 IDH was sold to Merrill Lynch

Global Private Equity with the Company receiving

proceeds of £3.9 million, giving a return of 3.5 times the

cost of investment (net of fees and carried interest) and a

£0.5 million uplift from the 31 December 2007

valuation. 

Verna Group

In March 2005, the Company invested a total of £1.1

million via LGV 4 in Verna Group, the UK market leader

in the provision of pulp and infection control products to

the healthcare sector. The Company received £0.6 million

on the sale of the company to Bank of Scotland

Integrated Finance in February 2008, followed by

deferred sale proceeds of £0.1 million in October 2008,

having already received proceeds of £0.9 million in July

2007. The total return was 1.4 times cost of investment

(net of fees and carried interest), and gave a £0.1 million

uplift from the December 2007 valuation.

Classic Hospitals

The Company invested £1.8 million in Classic Hospitals,

the fifth largest private hospitals operator in the UK, in

July 2005 via LGV 4. A follow-on investment of £0.2

million was made in December 2007. In March 2008

Classic Hospitals was sold to Spire Healthcare with the

Company receiving proceeds of £4.3 million, giving a

return of 2.2 times the cost of investment (net of fees and

carried interest) and a £1.3 million uplift from the

31 December 2007 valuation. 

Craegmoor Healthcare

In July 2001, the Company invested £6.0 million in

Craegmoor Healthcare, the leading independent provider

of specialist care for adults with a range of needs. A further

£0.3 million was invested in March 2006 to provide

additional liquidity. The Company received £4.0 million

in 2003 following a restructuring, and £1.4 million on

the sale of Craegmoor to Advent International in July

2008. The total return was 0.9 times cost of investment

(net of fees), and gave a £2.4 million reduction from the

December 2007 valuation.
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Mithras Capital Fund

The Company received distributions of £1.1 million and

£1.3 million in September 2008 and November 2008

respectively representing one full realisation (Richter) and

one partial realisation (IndustrieHansa) from Riverside

Europe III. Riverside Europe III invests in buy and build

situations at the lower end of the buyout market which

has to date been less affected by the lack of available

finance. 

Other disposals

In addition to the above realisations, the Company’s

holding in quoted corporate bonds was sold during the

year, realising £9.9 million including a gain of £0.1

million since December 2007. The passively managed

quoted private equity portfolio was also sold during the

year, realising £22.5 million reflecting a loss of £4.4

million from the December 2007 valuation and 2008

investments.

Revaluations

During the year the Company recorded unrealised

valuation uplifts of £1.9 million from MCF, net of the

Directors’ valuation adjustment.

The Company is also showing unrealised valuation

reductions of £0.2 million and £0.6 million in the year

from LGV 2 and LGV 3 respectively.

Liquidity

The Group’s net cash position decreased during the year

from £12.4 million (including quoted corporate bonds at

fair value) to £12.2 million as a result of investment

activity.

The Group has a medium term credit facility of £35

million to enable it to meet its outstanding commitment

to MCF.

Investment Trust Status

HM Revenue & Customs approved the Company as an

investment trust in 2007. This approval is subject to there

being no subsequent enquiry under Corporation Tax Self

Assessment. The Company was managed as an

investment trust during 2008. Maintenance of this status

in the future will continue to allow the Company’s capital

gains to be reinvested free of tax.

Outlook

The Company has had another strong year of realisations

from the LGV partnerships, and the first realisations from

the MCF portfolio took place in the second half of 2008.

The Company’s investment portfolio is now

predominantly represented by the commitment to MCF.

The two most active commitments within MCF, Oaktree

Principal Opportunities Fund IV and Riverside Europe

III are now either fully or substantially drawn having

benefited from favourable buying conditions in their

chosen markets during the year. MCF’s remaining

commitments, Doughty Hanson V, PAI Europe V and

CVC European Equity Partners V have significant

undrawn investment capacity. These undrawn funds

should be deployed in an environment where buying

opportunities for these types of fund are likely to be more

attractive than those of recent years. The Investment

Manager has adopted a considered approach to valuing its

investments. Given that private equity valuations are very

dependent upon quoted market multiples, it is impossible

to predict the trend for the next twelve months. However

with the nature of the undrawn commitments and the

diversification of the existing portfolio, the Company is in

a strong position to benefit once conditions improve. 

LGV Capital Limited

Investment Manager

13 March 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

AT 31 DECEMBER 2008

Fair
Value % of

Investments £’000 Portfolio

MCF limited partnership fund investments

OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV 12,925 39

Riverside Europe Fund III 12,016 36

Doughty Hanson & Co V 6,286 19

PAI Europe V 1,861 5

CVC European Equity Partners V 1,714 5

Directors’ valuation adjustments (5,515) (16)

29,287 88
LGV limited partnership funds

LGV 3 Private Equity Fund LP 1,845 5

LGV 2 Private Equity Fund LP 275 1

2,120 6

Net current assets held in MCF 2,169 6

Total Investment Portfolio 33,576 100

Geographical Spread of Investments by Currency Exposure

United Kingdom 4,289 12

Continental Europe 18,305 55

North America 10,982 33

33,576 100
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS

MCF

In April 2007, Mithras made a commitment of £60

million to Mithras Capital Fund LP (“MCF”), a

private equity fund of funds managed by Mithras

Capital Partners LLP. MCF has a returns-driven

investment strategy which based upon making

commitments to predominantly pan-European buyout

funds. MCF is now fully committed and has made

commitments to five private equity limited partnership

funds which it believes gives good diversification in

terms of vintage, deal size, sector and geography.

MCF has made commitments to OCM Principal

Opportunities Fund IV (“OCM POF IV”), Riverside

Europe Fund III (“REF III”), Doughty Hanson & Co

V (“DH V”), PAI Europe V and CVC European

Equity Partners V (“CVC Europe V”). 

OCM Principal Opportunities Fund IV

In April 2007, Mithras made a US$20 million

commitment to OCM Principal Opportunities Fund

IV (“OCM POF IV”) via MCF. OCM POF IV makes

investments in equity, equity-related and debt

obligations of companies that it believes are

undervalued, possibly due to some kind of distress,

offer an opportunity for growth and provide an

attractive risk/return profile. OCM POF IV will

attempt to structure its investments with a view to

obtaining control of, or significant influence over such

companies either directly or through management.

The fund size is US$3.3 billion.

Riverside Europe Fund III

In May 2007, Mithras made a € 15 million

commitment to Riverside Europe Fund III (“REF III”)

via MCF. REF III follows a pan-European buy-and-

build strategy focused on the lower-mid buyout

market. The aim will be to grow businesses acquired

over a three to seven year period by a combination of

making acquisitions and adopting measures to enhance

earnings growth. Riverside’s philosophy is to buy small

companies and grow them into larger ones with a view

to exiting on medium-large company multiples. The

fund size is € 320.0 million.

Doughty Hanson & Co V

In April 2007, Mithras made a € 15 million commitment

to Doughty Hanson & Co V (“DH V”) via MCF. DH

V will seek to make controlling equity investments in

mid-market enterprises whose headquarters are located

in Europe or whose operations are primarily based in

Mithras Capital Fund LP

Logo is a trademark of Oaktree Capital Management, L.P.
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Europe. DH V will target opportunities where there is

potential for equity value enhancement through

improved revenue growth, market positioning, operating

efficiencies and targeted acquisitions. The fund size is

€ 3.0 billion.

PAI Europe V

In August 2007, Mithras made a commitment of € 15

million to PAI Europe V via MCF. PAI Europe V seeks

to make controlling equity investments in medium to

large-sized private and public companies,

headquartered in Europe which are market-leaders that

operate in one of PAI Europe V’s core industry sectors.

PAI Europe V aims to fundamentally improve each

portfolio company by enhancing its strategic value

through an industrial approach to delivering profitable

growth. PAI Europe V will particularly focus on

investing in consolidating sectors and in markets where

growth can be sustained through economic and

financial market cycles. The fund size is € 5.4 billion.

CVC European Equity Partners V

In March 2008, Mithras made a commitment of € 15

million to CVC European Equity Partners V (“CVC

Europe V”) via MCF. CVC Europe V seeks to generate

long-term capital appreciation primarily by investing

in large European buyouts or other similar transactions

where it can exert control. CVC Europe V targets

companies which typically exhibit at least one of the

following characteristics such as a strong market

position or product portfolio, a realistic business plan

and a persuasive strategy for achieving it or an

opportunity for cash flow and profit growth internally

or through acquisition. The fund size is € 10.1 billion.

Financial Position of MCF

As at 31 December 2008, MCF is valued at fair value

based upon the latest available reports received from

the general partners of the underlying funds and

adjusted for subsequent cash flows to 31 December

2008. Where further information is subsequently

received from the underlying fund managers, a

Directors’ valuation adjustment may be made in order

to reflect fair value. Mithras’s undrawn commitment to

MCF is £29.0 million.

Mithras’s investment in MCF at 31 December 2008

was:

• Fair value: £31.5 million (2007: £14.0 million)

• Cost: £30.2 million (2007: £14.7 million)

• % of capital owned: 50.0% (2007: 50.0%)

• Dividend and interest income in year: £nil (2007:

£nil)

The latest available audited financial statements for

MCF at 31 December 2007 stated:

• Net loss of less than £0.1 million attributable to

limited partners;

• Net assets attributable to partners of £35.1 million.
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REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

LGV 3

In late 2002, Mithras made a commitment of £7.5

million to LGV 3, private equity fund managed by

LGV. LGV invests in mid-market buyouts valued at

over £50 million in the leisure, healthcare, consumer

and service sectors. Four investments were made by

LGV 3 between May 2003 and July 2004 of which

two, Vue Cinemas and The Club Company, were

successfully sold at a profit in 2006. The two remaining

investments in LGV 3 are LGC and Total Fitness. LGC

is considered a principal investment. The fund size is

£154.8 million.

LGC

In April 2004, LGV 3 acquired a majority equity stake

in LGC, the UK’s leading independent provider of

diagnostic and analytical testing services to the public

and private sectors. The key focus at acquisition was to

continue to drive organic growth through the renewal

of existing contracts and to successfully tender for new

contracts in LGC’s core testing competencies. LGV’s

strategy was to support organic growth and pursue

complementary acquisitions, while considering the

appropriate timing for an exit. 

Financial Position of LGV 3

As at 31 December 2008, LGV 3 is valued at fair value

based upon the fund’s quarterly report at 31 December

2008 and incorporating a Directors valuation

adjustment for further information subsequently

received from LGV. Mithras’s undrawn commitment

to LGV 3 is £1.1 million.

Mithras’s investment in LGV 3 at 31 December 2008

was:

• Fair value: £1.8 million (2007: £2.3 million)

• Cost: £3.3 million (2007: £3.2 million)

• % of capital owned: 4.8% (2007: 4.8%)

• Dividend and interest income in year: £nil (2007:

£nil)

The latest available audited financial statements for 

LGV 3 at 30 September 2008 stated:

• Net profits attributable to limited partners of £0.4

million (2007: £nil);

• Net assets attributable to partners of £48.9 million

(2007: £54.8 million).



13

REVIEW OF PRINCIPAL INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

LGV 2

In early 2002, Mithras made a commitment of £7.5

million to LGV 2, a private equity fund managed by

LGV. LGV invests in mid-market buyouts valued at

over £50 million in the leisure, healthcare, consumer

and service sectors. Three investments were made by

LGV 2 between March 2002 and September 2002 of

which two, Unique Pubs and Moliflor, were

successfully sold at a profit in March 2004 and

November 2005, respectively. The only investment

remaining in LGV 2 is Jeyes. The fund size is £154.0

million.

Jeyes

Jeyes was acquired in September 2002 and is a leading

manufacturer of branded and own label household

products, including automatic toilet cleaners, air

fresheners, bleach and insect control products. A strategy

of developing the brands, rationalising costs, pursuing

non-core disposals and making selective acquisitions has

been followed.

Financial Position of LGV 2

As at 31 December 2008, LGV 2 is valued at fair value

based upon the fund’s quarterly report at 31 December

2008. Mithras’s undrawn commitment to LGV 2 is

£0.3 million.

Mithras’s investment in LGV 2 at 31 December 2008

was:

• Fair value: £0.3 million (2007: £0.5 million)

• Cost: £1.1 million (2007: £1.1 million)

• % of capital owned: 4.8% (2007: 4.8%)

• Dividend and interest income in year: £nil (2007:

£nil)

The latest available audited financial statements for

LGV 2 at 30 September 2008 stated:

• Net profits attributable to limited partners of £0.1

million (2007: £nil );

• Net assets attributable to partners of £10.7 million

(2007: £12.3 million).
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who were in office at the end of the year

are listed below.

Chairman

Mike Wooderson 

Aged 55, is managing director of the International

Banking part of the newly established Wealth &

International Trading Division of the recently formed

Lloyds Banking Group. He joined the Bank of

Scotland in 1997 from The Royal Bank of Scotland

plc. 

Appointed 2001.

Directors

William Maltby

Aged 49, is vice chairman of Investment Banking at

Deutsche Bank. He is a qualified accountant with an

extensive career history in corporate finance.

Appointed 2005.

David Shearer (Chairman of the Audit Committee)

Aged 49, a qualified chartered accountant, is chairman

of Crest Nicholson plc, deputy chairman of Aberdeen

New Dawn Investment Trust plc, senior independent

director of stv group plc, Renold plc and Superglass

Holdings plc, a non-executive director of Martin

Currie Holdings Limited and Scottish Financial

Enterprise and a governor of the Glasgow School of

Art. Mr Shearer was until early 2007 a non-executive

director of HBOS plc.

Appointed 2007.

Fabian French 

Aged 49, is managing director of Daiwa Securities

SMBC Europe Ltd. He previously worked for Enskilda

Securities Limited, Merrill Lynch International and

Dresdner Kleinwort where he was most recently global

head of TMT. He is currently a non-executive director

of Goodenough College, a charitable organisation.

Appointed 2008.

All Directors are members of the Nomination, Audit

and Management Engagement Committees and are

non-executive.

All Directors are independent of the Investment

Manager in accordance with the provisions of the

Combined Code.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their Annual

Report and Audited Financial Statements for the Group for

the year ended 31 December 2008. The Group comprises

Mithras and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Mithras

Investments Limited (“MIL”) and Mithras Capital

Holdings Limited (“MCH”). At 31 December 2008, the

Company also owned 90% of Mithras Capital Partners

LLP (“MCP”) and its wholly owned subsidiary Mithras

Capital Partners GP Limited (“MCGP”). 

Business Review

This Business Review has been prepared in accordance with

the requirements of Section 417 of the Companies Act

2006 and current best practices. The objective of the

Directors has been to provide a balanced and

comprehensive review that is consistent with the size and

complexity of the business. As an externally managed

investment trust company, the Company has no employees

and delegates most of its functions to third party service

providers. Accordingly, your Board has focused this review

on the Company’s financial performance for the year ended

31 December 2008.

The Business Review is addressed only to shareholders as a

body, and no liability can be admitted by the Directors to

any other parties in connection therewith. The purpose of

the Business Review is limited to its statutory purpose,

namely to assist shareholders in assessing the Company’s

strategies and the potential for those strategies to succeed.

Any forward-looking statements contained in the Business

Review reflect the knowledge and information available to

the Directors at the date the Business Review was prepared.

The Business Review will not be updated during the next

financial year, but any forward-looking statements

contained in the Business Review will be considered in the

preparation of the next Business Review.

Operating Environment

The Company’s principal activity is investing in private

equity in accordance with the investment policy set out on

page 1. Following direction from shareholders at the AGM

in May 2008, for the Board to put forward proposals for the

orderly winding up of the Company or alternate ways of

crystallising value, the Board considered a wide range of

proposals from external parties against a backdrop of

unprecedented market conditions. These proposals were

rejected for not offering sufficient value for shareholders.

Thereafter the Board decided to make proposals to change

the investment policy of the Company. On Friday,

30 January 2009, shareholders approved the investment

policy detailed on page 1. A description of the Group’s

activities during the year is given in the Chairman’s

Statement on pages 3 to 5 and in the Investment Manager’s

Review on pages 6 to 8.

The Company is an investment company as defined by

Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006.

Since flotation in February 1994, the Directors have sought

to conduct the affairs of the Company so that it satisfies the

conditions for approval as an investment trust set out in

Section 842 of the Income & Corporation Taxes Act 1988

(“ICTA”), and confirmation has been received from 

HM Revenue & Customs that the Company has complied

with these requirements for all accounting periods up to

and including 31 December 2007. This approval is subject

to there being no subsequent enquiry under Corporation

Tax Self Assessment. In the opinion of the Directors, the

Company has subsequently conducted its affairs so that it

should continue to qualify. The Company is not a close

company within the terms of the ICTA.

The current portfolio of the Company is such that its shares

are eligible for inclusion in an Individual Savings Account,

and the Directors expect this eligibility to be maintained.

Performance

A number of performance measures are considered by the

Board and the Investment Manager in assessing the

Company’s success in achieving its objectives. The key

performance indicators (“KPIs”) used to measure the

progress and performance of the Company over time are

established industry measures and are as follows:
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• Movement in net asset value

• Movement in share price

• Total return on equity

• Dividends per share

• Total expense ratio

Details of the Company’s performance against these KPIs

can be found in the Performance Summary on page 2.

In addition to the aforementioned KPIs, the Board

monitors the activity in the Company’s shares and any

discount to the NAV at which they trade. The Investment

Manager considers the governance practices of investee

companies in their broadest sense, which includes social,

environmental and ethical factors where these may affect

the Company’s financial performance. The Investment

Manager engages in dialogue with investee companies

through its voting and shareholder process, to encourage

adoption of better practices. At all times, the driving

investment principle remains the maximisation of

performance for a given level of risk.

Financial Position

The results for the year are set out in the Consolidated

Income Statement on page 35. The Directors are

recommending the payment of a final dividend of 2.0p per

ordinary 2p share and a special dividend of 3.0p per ordinary

2p share. The final dividend will be paid on 18 May 2009 to

shareholders on the register of members at the close of

business on 27 March 2009. The special dividend will be

paid on 30 October 2009 to shareholders on the register at

the close of business on 25 September 2009.

The NAV per ordinary share at 31 December 2008 was

128.4p (2007: 132.1p).

Current and Future Developments 

Details of the Company’s key developments during the year

to 31 December 2008 are set out in the Chairman’s

Statement on pages 3 to 5 and the Investment Manager’s

Review on pages 6 to 8.

Schedule 7 Part I of the Companies Act 2006 requires that

the Directors provide an indication of the “likely future

developments in the business of the company”. Details of

the Company’s outlook are contained within the

Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 5 as well as the

Investment Manager’s Review on pages 6 to 8. These are in

no way intended to be a detailed forecast.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Company has established a risk management

framework within the context of the Company’s overall

objective to achieve over the longer term a total return in

excess of the FTSE All-Share Index. The Board and the

Audit Committee are responsible for the risk management

framework, which enables the Company to assess the

overall risk exposure of the Company and to successfully

manage such risk.

General Risks Associated with Investment in Private Equity

Investment in private equity involves a high degree of risk.

The Group invests in private equity through its exposure to

buyout and development capital funds. Such investments

are illiquid and might be difficult to realise, particularly

within a short timeframe. The Directors seek to maintain a

diversified portfolio of investments to mitigate these risks. 

Financial Risk

By its nature as an investment trust, the Company’s business

activities are exposed to market risk (including currency

risk, interest rate risk and market price risk), liquidity risk,

and credit and counterparty risk. Details of these risks and

how they are managed are set out in note 27 to the

Financial Statements on pages 66 to 72. 

Operational Risks

As the Company’s main functions are delegated to third

party service providers, operational risk arises from

inadequate processes of internal control at those service

providers. This would include, for example, non-

compliance with statutes and regulations governing the

functions of the Company.
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Operational risks are assessed by the Board, which receives

timely reports from its main service providers as to the

internal control processes in place within those

organisations, which serve to minimise the risk exposure to

the Company. The Board and the Audit Committee

annually review the internal control reports of the

Company’s service providers, produced in accordance with

Financial Reporting and Auditing Guidance and Audit and

Assurance Faculty 01/06 (Assurance reports on internal

controls of service organisations made available to third

parties).

Investment and Strategy Risks

An inappropriate investment strategy, for example

inappropriate asset allocation, may lead to

underperformance against the Company’s benchmark

index and peer companies. The investment strategy of the

Company is periodically reviewed by the Board. The Board

considers at each meeting the performance of the

investment portfolio and has established investment

restrictions and guidelines within which the Investment

Manager operates.

Market Risk

Market risk arises from volatility in the prices of the

Company’s investments. It represents the potential loss to

the Company through the holding of investments in the

face of negative market movements. 

The Board has set investment restrictions and guidelines

that are monitored and reported against by the Investment

Manager. The Board as a whole periodically considers the

asset allocation.

Valuation Risk

The Group’s exposure to valuation risk comprises mainly

movements in the value of its underlying investments. A

breakdown of the Group’s portfolio of private equity funds

is given on page 9. All underlying investments are valued at

fair value by the Directors in accordance with the current

International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEVC”)

Guidelines. The IPEVC Guidelines contain detailed

methodology setting out best practice with respect to valuing

unquoted investments. Valuation risks are mitigated by a

comprehensive review of underlying investments in the

private equity funds which are carried out by the managers

of the private equity funds twice each year. These valuations

are then considered by the Audit Committee and the Board

with advice and assistance from the Investment Manager, the

managers of the private equity funds and other advisers as

appropriate. The Group’s Auditor also reviews the valuations

as part of their audit and agrees any changes with the Audit

Committee and the Board.

Accounting, Legal and Regulatory Risk

In order to qualify as an investment trust, the Company

must comply with Section 842 of the ICTA. Details of the

Company’s approval are given under ‘Operating

Environment’ above. Should the Company be in breach of

Section 842 of the ICTA, it may lose its investment trust

status and as a consequence gains within the Company’s

portfolio would be subject to Capital Gains Tax. The

Investment Manager monitors the Section 842 of the ICTA

qualification criteria and provides a report to the Board at

each meeting.

As an entity listed on the London Stock Exchange, the

Company must also comply with the Listing Rules of the

Financial Services Authority (“FSA”). Breach of the FSA

Listing Rules may result in the shares of the Company being

suspended from listing which in turn would be a breach of

Section 842 of the ICTA. The Board uses its Company

Secretary and professional third party advisers to ensure

compliance with law and regulation.

Life of the Company

The Company has no limited life provisions in its Articles

of Association.

Share Capital

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company is

detailed in note 19 to the Financial Statements on page 60.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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There are no restrictions concerning the transfer of

securities in the Company and there are no agreements

between holders of securities regarding their transfer known

to the Company.

Directors

The Directors of the Company, who held office at the end

of the year under review, and their biographical details are

set out on page 14.

The Board agreed a formalised arrangement for the timely

refreshment of its membership, in line with the principles of

the Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the

“Combined Code”). In accordance with this policy, Mr

Leslie Melville resigned from the Board during the year 

under review, following fourteen years of service. In

accordance with the Articles of Association, Messrs

Wooderson and Maltby are due to be re-elected at the 2009

AGM. The Nomination Committee, having reviewed their

individual performance as Directors and their contribution

to the operation of the Company, concluded that the

Company benefited from their services. Accordingly, the

Committee recommended to the Board that a resolution be

put to shareholders for their re-election as Directors. The

Board recommends that shareholders vote in favour of both

Mr Wooderson and Mr Maltby’s re-election.

None of the Directors has a contract of service with the

Company.

None of the Directors, nor any persons connected with

them, had a material interest in any of the Group’s

transactions, arrangements or agreements during the year

ended 31 December 2008.

The Bank of Scotland, now part of the Lloyds Banking

Group, is one of the principal bankers to the Group. 

Mr Wooderson, as managing director, International

Banking, has no direct involvement in the provision of

credit facilities to the Group. The Bank of Scotland operates

effective “Chinese Walls” to ensure that no such

involvement can take place.

Management and Significant Agreements

The Group’s investments are currently managed by LGV

under Agreements dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and

19 December 1995 (as amended) with the Company and

its subsidiary, MIL, respectively. Under the terms of the

Investment Management Agreements, management fees are

payable quarterly in arrears by the Group at rates varying

between 0.5% per annum and 2% per annum of the values

of the Group’s assets, dependent upon asset type.

The Investment Manager does not receive a fee on assets for

which it receives a fee under the partnership agreements nor

on investments in MCF. The Investment Management

Agreements with LGV may be terminated by either party at

not less than one year’s notice, without penalty. During the

year ended 31 December 2008, LGV received fees

DIRECTORS’ BENEFICIAL AND FAMILY INTERESTS

At 31 December 2008 At 31 December 2007

Ordinary shares Ordinary shares

Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial

M Wooderson 25,000 – 25,000 –

P L F French – – – –

W J Maltby 20,000 – 20,000 –

D J B Shearer – – – –

There have been no changes to the above holdings between 31 December 2008 and the date of this Report.
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(inclusive of VAT where applicable) from the Group

amounting to £208,000 (2007: £306,000) (see note 6 to

the Financial Statements on page 52).

Company secretarial services have been delegated by BNP

Paribas Securities Services (previously BNP Paribas Fund

Services UK Limited) to their wholly owned subsidiary,

BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited. BNP Paribas

Securities Services receives a fee of £30,574 per annum

excluding VAT for services provided to the Company, plus

an additional £12,394 per annum excluding VAT for

services provided to Mithras Capital Partners LLP. The

contract may be terminated by either party giving not less

than six months’ written notice at any time.

With effect from 1 December 2008, BNP Paribas Fund

Services UK Limited became BNP Paribas Securities

Services. The Company Secretarial Agreement has been

novated to reflect this. No other changes to the Agreement

have been made.

There are no agreements that the Company is party to that

would be affected following a takeover bid, other than the

Credit Facility Agreement with Lloyds Banking Group

which if drawn upon would have to be repaid prior to a

change of control.

Appointment of the New Investment Manager 

Since the year end, the Directors have agreed that MCP will

take over as Investment Manager on 1 April 2009.

Transition arrangements have been put in place. LGV will

receive a management fee of £35,000 in respect of its

services during the first quarter of 2009 and the handover

to MCP. The Directors believe that the appointment of

MCP as the Investment Manager will be in the best

interests of shareholders. The Agreement between the

Company and the new Investment Manager, MCP, is in the

process of being finalised. 

Creditor Payment Policy and Practice

It is the Company’s payment policy to obtain the best

possible terms for all business and therefore there is no

consistent policy as to terms used. The Group agrees with

its suppliers the terms on which business will take place and

it is the policy to abide by those terms. Payment is made on

these terms normally within 30 working days provided the

supplier meets its obligations.

At 31 December 2008 there were no trade creditors

outstanding (2007: £nil).

Going Concern

The Directors have agreed that it is appropriate to continue

to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the

Financial Statements, as after due consideration, the

Directors are of the opinion that the Group has adequate

resources to continue in operational existence for the

foreseeable future.

Independent Auditors

The Independent Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,

have expressed their willingness to continue in office as

Auditors. The Audit Committee has responsibility for

making a recommendation to the Board on the

reappointment of the external Auditors. After careful

consideration of the services provided to the Group during

the year and a review of the effectiveness of the external

Auditor, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board

that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP should be re-appointed

as Auditors to the Group. Accordingly, resolutions are to be

proposed at the forthcoming AGM for their

reappointment, and to authorise the Directors to agree their

remuneration for the ensuing year.

Information to Auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this

Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware,

there is no relevant audit information of which the

Company’s Auditors are unaware and each Director has

taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors

to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information

and to establish that the Company’s Auditors are aware of

that information.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 19 February 2009, the Company had received notification of the following interests exceeding 3% of

the ordinary share capital of the Company:

Beneficial Owner No. of Shares % of Share Capital

Legal & General Assurance Society Limited 12,583,845 34.68

Uberior Investments Plc 5,233,000 14.42

East Riding of Yorkshire Council 3,500,000 9.65

C G Asset Management Ltd 2,518,534 6.94

South Yorkshire Pensions UK Fund Authority 1,517,480 4.18

A R B Johnson 1,395,030 3.84

Troy Asset Management 1,250,000 3.44

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

Annual General Meeting

The nineteenth AGM of the Company will be held on

Wednesday, 13 May 2009 at the offices of JPMorgan

Cazenove Limited, 20 Moorgate, London, EC2R 6DA at

12.00 noon. The business to be transacted at the meeting is

detailed in the Notice of Meeting contained on page 73.

Authority to Allot and Disapply Pre-emption Rights

The current authority for Directors to allot authorised but

unissued ordinary shares without first offering them to

existing shareholders in accordance with statutory

preemption procedure will expire at the forthcoming

AGM. The Directors believe it to be in shareholders’

interests to continue to have such an authority for the

forthcoming year and accordingly will seek to renew the

authority to allot shares and to disapply pre-emption rights

at the forthcoming AGM.

Appropriate resolutions to renew both authorities will be

proposed at the forthcoming AGM and are set out in full

in the Notice of Meeting on pages 73 and 75 of this

Report. An ordinary resolution will be proposed to

authorise the Directors to allot shares up to a maximum

aggregate nominal amount of £36,287 (being 5% of the

total share capital in issue on 13 March 2009) and a special

resolution will be proposed to give the Directors authority

to allot securities for cash on a non pre-emptive basis. If

renewed these authorities will expire at the conclusion of

AGM in 2010.

The Directors do not intend to allot shares pursuant to

these authorities other than to take advantage of

opportunities in the market as they arise and only if they

believe it to be advantageous to the Company’s existing

shareholders to do so.

Recommendation

The Directors consider that passing the resolutions

proposed at the AGM will be in the best interests of the

Company and shareholders as a whole and unanimously

recommend that shareholders vote in favour of each of

those resolutions.

Substantial Shareholdings

As at 19 February 2009, the Company had received

notification of the following interests exceeding 3% of the

ordinary share capital of the Company:

By order of the Board

BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited

13 March 2009
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual

Report, the Directors’ Report on Remuneration and

the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable

law and regulations. The Directors are required to

prepare Financial Statements for the Group in

accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union

(“EU”) and have also elected to prepare Financial

Statements for the Company in accordance with IFRS.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare such

Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS, the

Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation.

Company law requires that Financial Statements

present fairly for each financial year the Group’s and

the Company’s financial position, financial

performance and cash flows. This requires the faithful

representation of the effects of transactions, other

events and conditions in accordance with the

definitions and recognition criteria for assets, liabilities,

income and expenses set out in the International

Accounting Standards Board’s ‘Framework for the

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements’.

In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation will be

achieved by compliance with all applicable IFRSs. The

Directors are also required to:

• properly select and apply accounting policies

consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable

and prudent;

• present information, including accounting policies,

in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,

comparable and understandable information;

• provide additional disclosures when compliance

with the specific requirements in IFRS is

insufficient to enable users to understand the

impact of particular transactions, other events and

conditions on the Group’s and the Company’s

financial position and financial performance; and

• prepare the Financial Statements on the going

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume

that the Group and Company will continue in

business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with

the above requirements in preparing the Financial

Statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper

accounting records which disclose with reasonable

accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Group and the Company, for safeguarding the assets,

for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and

detection of fraud and other irregularities and for the

preparation of a Directors’ Report and Directors’

Report on Remuneration which comply with the

requirements of the Companies Act 1985 and, as

regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of

the IAS Regulation.

The Financial Statements are published on the

www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.com website, which is a

website maintained by the Company’s Manager, LGV.

The maintenance and integrity of the website

maintained by LGV or any of its subsidiaries is, so far

as it relates to the Company, the responsibility of LGV.

From 1 April 2009 the maintenance and integrity of

the website will become the responsibility of MCP. The

work carried out by the auditors does not involve

consideration of the maintenance and integrity of this

website and, accordingly, the auditors accept no

responsibility for any changes that have occurred to the

Financial Statements since they were initially presented

on the website. Visitors to the website need to be aware
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that legislation in the United Kingdom governing the

preparation and dissemination of the Financial

Statements may differ from legislation in other

jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are

listed on page 14 of this Report, confirms that to the

best of their knowledge:

(a) the Consolidated Financial Statements, which have

been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as

adopted by the EU, give a true and fair view of the

assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the

Group; and

(b) the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the

development and performance of the business and

the position of the Group, together with a

description of the principal risks and uncertainties

that it faces.

By order of the Board,

Mike Wooderson

Chairman

13 March 2009

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES CONTINUED
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Background

The UK Listing Authority requires all listed companies

to disclose how they have applied the principles and

complied with the provisions of the Combined Code on

Corporate Governance (“Combined Code”), as issued by

the Financial Reporting Council in June 2006. In

addition, the AIC Code of Corporate Governance (the

“AIC Code”) was issued by the Association of

Investment Companies and provides specific corporate

governance guidelines to investment companies. The

Financial Reporting Council endorsed the AIC Code in

February 2006 and has confirmed that AIC member

companies who report against the AIC Code and who

follow the AIC’s Code will be meeting obligations in

relation to the Code and associated disclosure

requirements of the FSA Listing Rules. This Corporate

Governance Statement, together with the Statement of

Director’s Responsibilities set out on page 21,

demonstrates how the Company has complied with the

principles of good governance and its requirements on

internal controls.

Corporate Governance Principles

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2008, the

Board conducted the affairs of the Company in

accordance with the provisions of the Combined Code,

subject to the exceptions explained in this statement

below and its special circumstances as an investment

trust company, and the principles of the AIC Code. The

Board considers matters of Corporate Governance to be

of utmost importance and strives to observe the

requirements of these Codes. It should be noted that as

the Company is an investment trust, all the Directors are

non-executive and most of the Company’s day-to-day

responsibilities are delegated to third party service

providers.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for determining the strategic

direction of the Company. It meets at least four times per

year to review the performance of the Company’s

investments, the financial position of the Company, its

performance in line with the agreed investment objective

and all other important issues to ensure control is

maintained over the Company’s affairs and that it

operates within a framework of prudent and effective

controls. A schedule of matters specifically reserved to

the Board for its decision has been adopted.

As recommended by the AIC Code, the Board sets the

boundaries within which the Investment Manager

operates. The Board has delegated the following

responsibilities to the Investment Manager: development

of strategic plans and the taking of decisions as to the

investment of the portfolio assets of the Company.

Representatives of the Investment Manager attend each

Board meeting, enabling the Board to review the

Investment Manager’s performance against the

Company’s investment objective, portfolio risk and the

attribution analysis. In addition, their attendance affords

the Board the opportunity to seek clarification on

specific issues. The Board takes responsibility for the

content of major corporate communications and the

Investment Manager informs the Board of any relevant

promotional material that is issued.

The Board has formalised arrangements under which the

Directors, in furtherance of their duties, may take

independent professional advice at the Company’s

expense. It is the Chairman’s responsibility to ensure that

the Directors have sufficient knowledge to fulfil their

role and Directors are encouraged to participate in

training courses as appropriate.
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All Directors who served throughout the financial year

attended the four Board meetings, together with the

Management Engagement and Nomination Committee

meetings, and the three Audit Committee meetings

convened during the year under review. Thirteen

exceptional Board meetings were also held during the

year ended 31 December 2008.

The Chairman

There is a clear division of responsibility between the

Chairman, the Directors, the Investment Manager and

the other third party service providers. No one individual

has unfettered powers of decision.

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and

ensuring its effectiveness in all aspects of its role and for

ensuring that the Directors receive accurate, timely and

clear information. The Chairman also ensures that there

is effective communication with shareholders. The

Chairman at the time of his appointment was, and

remains, independent of the Investment Manager.

Details of the Chairman’s professional commitments are

included in his biography on page 14.

Senior Independent Director

During the year under review, it was agreed by the Board

that, given the small size of the Board, the opportunity

for open discussions and the breadth of investment,

commercial and professional knowledge of each Director

enabling them to address any concerns conveyed to

them, there has not been a need to appoint a Senior

Independent Director at the current time. This matter is

reviewed annually.

Directors and Directors’ Independence

At the year end the Board comprised the Chairman and

three Directors. As the Board is comprised solely of non-

executive Directors, there is no chief executive position

within the Company. The names of the Directors who

were in office at the end of the financial year, together

with their biographical details are set out on page 14 of

this Report.

Mr Leslie Melville resigned from the Board after

fourteen years of service at the Company’s AGM on

14 May 2008, and in view of this, the Board agreed to

appoint an additional Director to the Board of the

Company, namely Mr French, with effect from 1 March

2008.

Following the resignation of Mr Leslie Melville, Mr

Wooderson was appointed the Chairman of the

Company and Mr Shearer who has recent and relevant

financial experience was appointed the Chairman of the

Audit Committee.

The Board considers that all Directors are independent

in character and judgement. For the purposes of the

Combined Code and the AIC Code, no non-executive

Director:

• has been an employee of the Investment Manager

within the last five years;

• has, or has had within the last three years, a material

business relationship with the Company;

• receives remuneration other than a Director’s fee;

• has close family ties with any of the Company’s

advisers;

• holds cross directorships or has significant links with

companies within the Investment Portfolio; or

• represents a significant shareholder.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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The Board is satisfied that it is of sufficient size, with an

appropriate balance of skills and experiences, and that no

individual or group of individuals is, or has been, in a

position to dominate decision-making.

Professional Development

On appointment, new Directors will take part in an

induction programme, which covers the Group’s

investment strategy, policies and practices. New Directors

will also receive information on the role of the Board and

the matters reserved for its decision, the terms of reference

for the Board committees, the Company’s corporate

governance practices and procedures and the latest

financial information. Throughout their time in office

Directors are continually updated on the Group’s business,

the regulatory environment in which it operates and other

changes affecting the Group by its advisers through

written briefings and at Board meetings.

Performance Evaluation

The Board has formalised a process by which to evaluate

its own performance and that of the Chairman on an

annual basis. This process is based on an open discussion

and assessment of the Board and its Committees, with

the Chairman making recommendations to improve

performance where necessary. The Board considers

annually, in the absence of the Chairman, matters

pertaining to his performance.

Re-election

Directors are appointed subject to the provisions of the

Companies Act and the Company’s Articles of Association. 

The Directors of the Company have not been appointed

subject to a service contract. The terms and conditions of

their appointments are set out in the letters of

appointment, which are available for inspection at the

registered office of the Company and at the AGM.

The re-appointment of a Director is reviewed by the

Nomination Committee prior to a Director seeking re-

election at an impending AGM. Re-appointment is not

automatic and is subject to a review of performance. All

Directors are subject to election by shareholders at the

first AGM after their appointment. Thereafter, all

Directors are subject to re-election in accordance with the

Articles of Association. No Director would serve more

than three years in office without shareholder approval.

Directors’ Remuneration

The Board as a whole considers Directors’ remuneration

in accordance with the limits set by the Articles of

Association and a separate Remuneration Committee

has not been established.

Directors’ remuneration during the year under review are

contained in the Directors’ Report on Remuneration on

page 30. 

Board Committees

In order to enable the Directors to discharge their duties,

three Board Committees, with written terms of

reference, have operated throughout the year.

Committee membership is set out on page 14 of this

Report. Attendance at the meetings of the various

Committees is restricted to members and those persons

expressly invited to attend. BNP Paribas Secretarial

Services Limited acts as Company Secretary to each

Committee. Copies of the terms of reference for the

Board Committees are available from the Company

Secretary and are on the Company’s website,

www.mithrasinvestmenttrust.com.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee operates within clearly defined

terms of reference and provides a forum through which

the Company’s external Auditors report to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee

include monitoring the integrity of the Company’s

Financial Statements and appropriateness of its

accounting policies; reviewing the internal control

systems and the risks to which the Company is

exposed; and making recommendations to the Board

regarding the appointment of the external Auditors,

the independence and objectivity of the Audit firm and

the effectiveness of the audit process. In accordance

with the recommendations of the Combined Code,

the Audit Committee’s terms of reference were

reviewed during the financial year.

Mr Shearer was appointed as the Chairman of the Audit

Committee in May 2008. The other members comprise

all the independent, non-executive Directors. All

members of the Committee have relevant financial and

investment experience, for the purposes of the

Combined Code requirements, as a result of their current

or recent employment in the financial services and other

industries. As the Chairman of the Committee, Mr

Shearer has relevant and recent financial experience as a

qualified Chartered Accountant.

As the Company has no employees there is no

dedicated resource to the Audit Committee. However,

representatives from the Investment Manager, who

produced the financial information for the Company

for the year ended 31 December 2008, are invited to

attend and present on issues as required.

The Audit Committee regularly monitors the non-

audit services provided to the Group by its external

Auditors, and has developed a formal policy on auditor

independence to ensure that such services do not

impair the independence or objectivity of the Auditors.

The policy is based on the following key principles:

The Auditors should not:

• audit their own firm’s work;

• make management decisions for the Company;

• have a mutuality of financial interest with the

Company, or

• be put in the role of advocate for the Company.

Prior approval of the Committee is required for any

services provided by the external Auditors where the

fee is likely to be in excess of £10,000. In any case,

activities that may be perceived to be in conflict with

the role of the external Auditor must be submitted to

the Committee for approval prior to engagement,

regardless of the amounts involved. 

Details of the amounts paid to the external Auditors

during the financial year, for audit and other services

are set out in note 7 to the Financial Statements on

page 53. 

In addition to the above, the Audit Committee

discharged its responsibilities during the year under

review by:

• reviewing the Company’s draft Financial

Statements and interim results statement prior to

Board approval;

• reviewing the decision to disapply the requirement

for the Company to establish an internal audit

function;

• reviewing the appropriateness of the Company’s

accounting policies; and

• reviewing the Company’s decision to rely on the

whistleblowing procedures of the main service

providers and assessing the adequacy of these

procedures.

The Audit Committee convened three meetings

during the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

All Committee members attended the three meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONTINUED
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has defined terms of

reference and is responsible for identifying and

nominating to the Board new Directors, and for

proposing that existing Directors be re-elected prior to

each AGM. 

The Nomination Committee comprises all members of

the Board and is chaired by Mr Wooderson, except on

those occasions when the Committee is reviewing the

performance of the Chairman. In such instances, an

independent Director chairs the Committee. The

Nomination Committee meets at least annually and all

Directors attended the meeting held during the year

under review.

Management Engagement Committee

The Management Engagement Committee was

established to review the performance of the third party

service providers, including the Investment Manager,

and to review their terms of engagement. The

Committee meets annually and is chaired by Mr

Wooderson. The Committee consists of all the non-

executive Directors of the Company. All Committee

members attended the meeting held during the year

under review.

The Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible for advising the

Board, through the Chairman, on all governance matters

and ensuring compliance with applicable rules,

regulations and Company procedures. The Directors

have access to the advice and services of the Company

Secretary through its appointed representatives. The

appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a

matter for the whole Board.

Information

The Board is regularly provided with information to

enable it to discharge its duties. The Investment Manager

provides such information as requested by the Board in

addition to timely clarification or amplification of

specific issues from time to time. The Company Secretary

is responsible for ensuring good information flows.

Relations with Shareholders

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders are kept fully

informed of developments in the Company’s business

through its published Annual and Interim Reports. The

Company prepares Interim Management Statements

during the six months between the Annual and Interim

Report periods and these are announced to the London

Stock Exchange, as well as being available on the

Company’s website.

The Directors are always available to enter into dialogue

with shareholders and the Company places a great deal

of importance upon such communications. The

Investment Manager, together with the Chairman if

requested, is available to meet with the Company’s

institutional shareholders to discuss matters of the

Company’s investment strategy, performance and

governance. Discussions with institutional shareholders

are reported to the Board.

All shareholders have the opportunity to attend and vote

at the AGM during which the Board and the Investment

Manager are available to discuss issues affecting the

Company. Proxy votes are declared at AGMs. As part of

the AGM, a presentation is made to shareholders on the

Company’s performance and prospects. Shareholders are

encouraged to attend the 2009 AGM and to vote on the

resolutions detailed in the Notice of the Meeting on 

page 73. 
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The Company discloses the full portfolio annually and

any cross holdings are disclosed to the London Stock

Exchange as at each quarter end.

Voting Policy

The Board has given the Investment Manager the

discretion to exercise the Company’s voting rights and

the Investment Manager exercises them in respect of all

resolutions proposed by investee companies.

Environmental Policy

The Company’s primary objective is to achieve over the

longer term a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share

Index with dividends reinvested, within established risk

parameters and regulatory constraints. Provided that this

objective is not compromised in the process the Board

does, however, believe that it is also possible to develop a

framework that, in the interest of shareholders, allows a

broader range of considerations, including environmental

and social issues, to be taken into account when selecting

and retaining investments. Under the revised investment

policy, the Company will make no new limited

partnership commitments and no new investments in

listed vehicles. The Investment Manager will no longer

select new investments for the Company.

Internal Controls and Management of Risk

The Combined Code requires the Directors, at least

annually, to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the

Company’s systems of internal controls and to report to

shareholders that they have done so. This encompasses a

review of all controls, which the Board has identified as

including business, financial, operational, compliance

and risk management.

The Board is responsible for the Company’s systems of

internal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness.

Internal controls systems are designed to meet the

particular needs of the Company and the risks to which it

is exposed. They are designed to manage rather than

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives

and by their very nature provide reasonable but not

absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Audit Committee considers annually whether there is

any need for an internal audit function. As all of the

Company’s functions are delegated to third parties, and at

least the two major suppliers, the Investment Manager and

BNP Paribas Securities Services, have their own internal

audit function, it has been agreed that it is appropriate for

the Company to rely on the internal audit controls which

are in place at these companies. Accordingly, it has been

agreed that it would be inappropriate for the Company to

have an internal audit function.

The Investment Manager and Company Secretary have

established internal control frameworks to provide

reasonable assurance on the effectiveness of the internal

controls operated on behalf of their clients. The

Investment Manager reports to the Board on the

operation of its internal controls and risk management,

in so far as it impacts on the Company, and in addition,

reports on compliance within the terms of its delegated

authority under the Investment Management Agreement

on a quarterly basis. The Company Secretary also reports

any breaches of law and regulation as and when they

arise. This enables the Board to address any issues of

concern promptly, regarding the management of the

Company as and when they arise.

By the procedures set out above, and in accordance with the

Turnbull Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code

published by the Financial Reporting Council, the

Directors have kept under review the effectiveness of the

Company’s internal controls throughout the year under

review and up to the date of this Report.
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During the course of its review of the systems of internal

controls, the Board has not identified nor been advised of

any failings or weaknesses which it has determined to be

significant.

Conflicts of Interest

Directors have a duty to avoid situations where they have,

or could have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or

possibly could conflict, with the Company’s interests. With

effect from 1 October 2008, the Companies Act 2006 (the

“Act”), has allowed directors of public companies to

authorise such conflicts and potential conflicts, where

appropriate, but only if the articles of association contain a

provision to this effect. There are two safe harbours – either

the situation cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give

rise to a conflict of interest or the matter has been

authorised in advance by the directors. The Company’s new

Articles of Association, which were approved by

shareholders at the AGM in May of last year and which

were effective from 1 October 2008, give the Directors the

relevant authority required to deal with conflicts of interest.

Each of the Directors has provided a statement of all

conflicts of interest and potential conflicts of interest

applicable to the Company. A register of conflicts of interest

has been compiled and approved by the Board. Going

forward, the Directors have also undertaken to notify the

Chairman and Company Secretary as soon as they become

aware of any new potential conflict of interest that would

need to be considered and approved by the disinterested

Directors and added to the register, which will be reviewed

annually by the Board. In deciding whether to approve a

conflict of interest, disinterested Directors will act in a way

they consider, in good faith, will be most likely to promote

the Company’s success in taking such a decision. The Board

can impose limits or conditions when giving authorisation

if the Directors consider this to be appropriate.

The Board believes that its powers of authorisation of

conflicts has operated effectively since they were introduced

on 1 October 2008. The Board also confirms that its

procedures for the approval of conflicts of interest have been

followed by all the Directors.

Statement of Compliance

The Directors have reviewed the principles of the

Combined Code and consider that, subject to the

exceptions listed above, the Company has complied with

the provisions of Section 1 of the Combined Code for the

year ended 31 December 2008 and up to the date of this

Report. The Company has also complied with the

guidelines of the AIC Code, with the exception of the

recommendation concerning the appointment of a Senior

Independent Director.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report on

remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2008, in

accordance with the requirements on Schedule 8 of the

Companies Act 2006 incorporating the Directors’

Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (the

“Regulations”). An ordinary resolution for the approval

of this report will be put to shareholders at the

forthcoming AGM.

The Group’s Auditors are required to report on certain

information contained within this Report. Where

information set out below has been audited, it is

indicated as such. The Auditors’ opinion is included

within the Auditors’ Report on pages 33 and 34.

The Board comprises entirely of independent, non-

executive Directors and as a whole considers the

remuneration of Directors. Accordingly, it has not

appointed a separate Remuneration Committee. In

accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,

new Directors are required to stand for election at the

first AGM following their appointment and thereafter,

are required to retire by rotation, so that over a three-year

period all Directors will have retired from the Board and

been offered up for re-election. No Director has a

contract of service with the Company. The terms and

conditions of the appointment of the Directors are set

out in the Directors’ letters of appointment. A Director

may resign by notice in writing to the Board at any time;

there is neither a fixed notice period nor any entitlement

to compensation for loss of office.

Policy on Directors’ Remuneration

The Company’s policy is for the Chairman of the Board

and the Chairman of the Audit Committee to be paid

higher fees than the other Directors, to reflect their more

onerous roles, and for the Directors’ fees to be reviewed

from time to time. It is the Company’s policy that no

Director shall be entitled to any benefits in kind, share

options, long-term incentives, pension or other

retirement benefits, or compensation for loss of office.

The Board considers it appropriate that no aspect of

Directors’ remuneration should be performance related

in light of the Directors’ non-executive status. Directors

are entitled to claim expenses in respect of duties

undertaken in connection with the management of the

Company and any associated tax liabilities.

The Company’s Articles of Association for the time being

limit the fees payable to the Directors to £150,000 per

annum. The Company’s policy is that fees payable to the

Directors should reflect the time spent on the Company’s

affairs and the responsibilities borne by the Directors and

should be sufficient to attract and retain candidates of a

high calibre. 

The Chairman of the Company is paid £35,000 per

annum, the Chairman of the Audit Committee is paid

£30,000 per annum and other Directors are paid

£25,000 per annum each.

The Board reviewed the level of fees paid to Directors

during the year, taking into account fees payable to

directors of other investment trust companies with a

comparable investment objective and it was agreed that

no increase to Directors fees would take place.

Directors are allowed to accept external appointments, as

long as these are not likely to lead to a conflict of interest.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by

the Company in respect of the Directors and is renewed

annually.
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DIRECTORS’ FEES (AUDITED)

The Directors who served during 2008 and 2007 received the following emoluments, excluding VAT:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£ £

M Wooderson1 33,159 30,000

I H Leslie Melville2 12,981 35,000

P L F French 18,750 –

W J Maltby 25,000 25,000

D Rough – 8,424

D J B Shearer3 28,125 12,240

Mr D Rough and Mr Leslie Melville resigned as Directors of the Company on 1 May 2007 and 14 May

2008 respectively and Mr French was appointed as a Director of the Company on 1 March 2008.

1These amounts were paid to Bank of Scotland together with a charge for VAT. 

2These amounts were paid to Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) together with a charge for VAT.

3These amounts were paid to D J B Shearer together with a charge for VAT.

None of the Directors serve as directors of the Company’s subsidiary companies, Mithras Investments

Limited, Mithras Capital Holdings Limited and Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited. However, Mr

Maltby was appointed as a representative of the Company, Mithras Investment Trust plc, being the sole

shareholder in Mithras Capital Holdings Limited, the Designated Member of Mithras Capital Partners

LLP with effect from 14 May 2008.

No other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the Company during the year to any of

the current Directors. The Board received reimbursement of expenses of £3,383 (2007: £1,810) relating to

costs incurred in respect of Board meeting attendance during the year and duties undertaken in connection

with the management of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

FTSE All-Share Index Total Return
Mithras Share Price Total Return

Performance Graph

In accordance with the Regulations, the performance

graph below charts the cumulative share price total

return (assuming that all dividends are reinvested) to

ordinary shareholders since 31 December 2003. �is

return is compared to the cumulative total shareholder

return on a notional investment in the FTSE All-Share

Index, which is the portfolio benchmark against which

the Company’s performance is measured. �e data has

been rebased to 100 at 31 December 2003 (the start of

the period covered by the graph).

By the order of the Board

Mike Wooderson

Chairman

13 March 2009

Source:  Datastream 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE

MEMBERS OF MITHRAS INVESTMENT TRUST PLC

We have audited the Consolidated and Company

Financial Statements (the ‘‘Financial Statements’’) of

Mithras Investment Trust plc for the year ended

31 December 2008 which comprise the Consolidated

Income Statement, the Consolidated and Company

Statements of Changes in Equity, the Consolidated

and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated and

Company Cash Flow Statements and the related

notes. These Financial Statements have been

prepared under the accounting policies set out

therein. We have also audited the information in the

Directors’ Report on Remuneration that is described

as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and

auditors

The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the

Annual Report, the Directors’ Report on

Remuneration and the Financial Statements in

accordance with applicable law and International

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by

the European Union are set out in the Statement of

Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial

Statements and the part of the Directors’ Report on

Remuneration to be audited in accordance with

relevant legal and regulatory requirements and

International Standards on Auditing (UK and

Ireland). This Report, including the opinion, has

been prepared for and only for the Company’s

members as a body in accordance with Section 235

of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other

purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or

assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any

other person to whom this Report is shown or into

whose hands it may come save where expressly

agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the

Financial Statements give a true and fair view and

whether the Financial Statements and the part of the

Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be audited

have been properly prepared in accordance with the

Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group

Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation. We also report to you whether in our

opinion the information given in the Directors’

Report is consistent with the Financial Statements.

The information given in the Directors’ Report

includes that specific information presented in the

Performance Summary, Chairman’s Statement and

Investment Manager’s Review that is cross referred

from the Business Review section of the Directors’

Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the

Company has not kept proper accounting records, if

we have not received all the information and

explanations we require for our audit, or if

information specified by law regarding Directors’

remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance

Statement reflects the Company’s compliance with

the nine provisions of the Combined Code (2006)

specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the

Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does

not. We are not required to consider whether the

Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks

and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness

of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or

its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual

Report and consider whether it is consistent with the

audited Financial Statements. The other information
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MEMBERS OF MITHRAS INVESTMENT TRUST PLC CONTINUED

comprises only the Performance Summary, Chairman’s

Statement, Investment Manager’s Review, Consolidated

Investment Portfolio, Review of Principal Investments,

Directors’ Report, the unaudited part of the Directors’

Report on Remuneration and the Corporate

Governance Statement. We consider the implications for

our report if we become aware of any apparent

misstatements or material inconsistencies with the

Financial Statements. Our responsibilities do not extend

to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)

issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes

examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the

amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements and

the part of the Directors’ Report on Remuneration to

be audited. It also includes an assessment of the

significant estimates and judgments made by the

Directors in the preparation of the Financial Statements,

and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to

the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently

applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all

the information and explanations which we considered

necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence

to give reasonable assurance that the Financial

Statements and the part of the Directors’ Report on

Remuneration to be audited are free from material

misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other

irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also

evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of

information in the Financial Statements and the part of

the Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the Consolidated Financial Statements give a true

and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted

by the European Union, of the state of the Group’s

affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its profit and

cash flows for the year then ended;

• the Company Financial Statements give a true and

fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by

the European Union as applied in accordance 

with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of 

the state of the parent Company’s affairs as at

31 December 2008 and cash flows for the year

then ended;

• the Financial Statements and the part of the

Directors’ Report on Remuneration to be audited

have been properly prepared in accordance with

the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group

Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS

Regulation; and

• the information given in the Directors’ Report is

consistent with the Financial Statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors

London

13 March 2009
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Year ended 31 December 2008 Year ended 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total

Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income

Net (losses)/gains on investments 3 – (1,490) (1,490) – 7,928 7,928

Investment Income 4 1,742 – 1,742 1,871 – 1,871

Other income 5 1,600 – 1,600 1,135 – 1,135

3,342 (1,490) 1,852 3,006 7,928 10,934

Expenses

Investment management fees 6 (376) (376) (752) (334) (334) (668)

Write back of prior years’ VAT 6 – – – 364 364 728

Other operating expenses 7 (1,028) – (1,028) (705) – (705)

Total operating expenses (1,404) (376) (1,780) (675) 30 (645)

Goodwill written off 2.3 – – – – (148) (148)

Profit/(loss) before finance

costs and tax 1,938 (1,866) 72 2,331 7,810 10,141

Finance costs 9 (53) – (53) (137) (86) (223)

Profit/(loss) before tax 1,885 (1,866) 19 2,194 7,724 9,918

Tax (expense)/credit 10 (3) 155 152 (532) 96 (436)

Profit/(loss) for the year 1,882 (1,711) 171 1,662 7,820 9,482

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 1,804 (1,711) 93 1,563 7,820 9,383

Minority interest 78 – 78 99  – 99

Basic and diluted earnings per 
ordinary share (pence) 12 5.0 (4.7) 0.3 4.3 21.6 25.9

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Income Statement, prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

The supplementary revenue return and capital return columns are both prepared under the guidance published by

the AIC. All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

The Company has elected to take the exemption under Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to present

the parent Company Income Statement.

The notes on pages 42 to 72 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue Minority

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Interest Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2007

At 1 January

(notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 36,560 (12,949) 6,612 – 39,656

Minority interest

on acquisition – – – – – – 7 7

Profit/(loss) for the year –  –  – 9,218 (1,398) 1,563 99 9,482

Drawings – – – – – – (59) (59)

Equity dividends

(note 11) – – – – – (1,089) – (1,089)

At 31 December

(notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 45,778 (14,347) 7,086 47 47,997

2008

(Loss)/profit for the year – – – (1,464) (247) 1,804 78 171

Drawings – – – – – – (95) (95)

Equity dividends

(note 11) – – – – – (1,452) – (1,452)

At 31 December

(notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 44,314 (14,594) 7,438 30 46,621

The notes on pages 42 to 72 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

2007
At 1 January

(notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 49,840 (22,556) 2,939 39,656

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – 9,500 (1,159) 1,042 9,383

Equity dividends (note 11) – – – – – (1,089) (1,089)

At 31 December

(notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 59,340 (23,715) 2,892 47,950

2008
Profit/(loss) for the year – – – 1,721 (3,184) 1,556 93

Equity dividends (note 11) – – – – – (1,452) (1,452)

At 31 December

(notes 19, 20) 726 8,598 109 61,061 (26,899) 2,996 46,591

The notes on pages 42 to 72 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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31 December 31 December

2008 2007

Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments 13 33,576 45,375

33,576 45,375

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 14 956 937

Current tax asset 323 –

Cash and cash equivalents 15 12,160 2,395

13,439 3,332

Total assets 47,015 48,707

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 (278) (261)

Current tax liabilities – (299)

(278) (560)

46,737 48,147

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 18 (116) (150)

Net assets 46,621 47,997

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 19, 20 726 726

Share premium 20 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve 20 109 109

Capital reserve - realised 20 44,314 45,778

Capital reserve - unrealised 20 (14,594) (14,347)

Revenue reserve 20 7,438 7,086

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 46,591 47,950

Minority interest 20 30 47

Total equity 20 46,621 47,997

Net assets per ordinary share (pence) 21 128.4 132.1

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 March 2009.

They are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

Mike Wooderson David Shearer

Chairman Director

The notes on pages 42 to 72 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

31 December 31 December

2008 2007

Notes £’000 £’000

Non-current assets

Investments 13 34,028 42,600                           

34,028 42,600

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 14 964 4,046

Current tax asset 323 –

Cash and cash equivalents 15 11,629 1,800

12,916 5,846

Total assets 46,944 48,446

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 (237) (189)

Current tax liabilities – (157)

(237) (346)

Total assets less current liabilities 46,707 48,100

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 18 (116) (150)

Net assets 46,591 47,950

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital 19, 20 726 726

Share premium 20 8,598 8,598

Capital redemption reserve 20 109 109

Capital reserve - realised 20 61,061 59,340

Capital reserve - unrealised 20 (26,899) (23,715)

Revenue reserve 20 2,996 2,892

Total equity 46,591 47,950

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 13 March 2009.

They are signed on the Board’s behalf by:

Mike Wooderson David Shearer

Chairman Director

The notes on pages 42 to 72 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year Year

ended ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Dividend income received 696 257

Interest income received 1,042 1,768

Deposit interest received 493 226

Investment management fees received 1,101 891

Investment management fee paid (804) (699)

Other income 4 18

Other operating expenses (853) (570)

Guaranteed drawings to minority interests (125) (166)

Income taxes paid (460) (213)

Purchase of investments 13 (34,399) (28,015)

Sale of investments 13 44,632 27,572

Net cash from operating activities 11,327 1,069

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired – (132)

Proceeds from sale of investment in subsidiary – 4

Net cash used in investing activities – (128)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net decrease in term loans – (5,678)

Finance costs paid (18) (286)

Equity dividends paid (1,452) (1,089)

Profit share distributed to minority interests (94) (60)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,564) (7,113)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 9,763 (6,172)

Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of year 2,395 8,577

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 2 (10)

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 15 12,160 2,395

The notes on pages 42 to 72 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Year Year

ended ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Notes £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Dividend income received 1,176 257

Interest income received 1,042 1,667

Deposit interest received 470 212

Investment management fee paid (756) (666)

Other income 4 18

Other operating expenses (593) (505)

Income taxes paid (330) (213)

Purchase of investments 13 (34,399) (28,015)

Sale of investments 13 43,860 26,030

Repayment of/loan to subsidiary 823 (2,070)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 11,297 (3,285)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiary – (30)

Net cash used in investing activities – (30)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net decrease in term loans – (1,915)

Finance costs paid (18) (225)

Equity dividends paid (1,452) (1,089)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,470) (3,229)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 9,827 (6,544)

Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of year 1,800 8,355

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 2 (11)

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 15 11,629 1,800

The notes on pages 42 to 72 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Mithras Investment Trust plc (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the

Companies Act 1985. The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December

2008 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries, Mithras Investments Limited (“MIL”), Mithras Capital

Holdings Limited (“MCH”), Mithras Capital Partners LLP (“MCP”) and Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited

(“MCGP”), together referred to as the “Group”. The nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities

are set out in note 2.4 and in the Directors’ Report on page 15.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting polices adopted in preparing these Consolidated Financial Statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of Preparation
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group and Company have been prepared in accordance

with IFRS as adopted by the EU, International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”)

interpretations and the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on the historic cost basis, except for the

revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Investments are held at fair value and all

other assets and liabilities are held at carrying amounts, which approximate to their fair values unless

otherwise stated. In determining the analysis of total income and expenses as between capital return and

revenue return, the Directors have followed the guidance contained in the Statement of Recommended

Practice (the “SORP”) for investment trusts issued by the Association of Investment Companies in

January 2003 (revised December 2005), to the extent that this is not inconsistent with the requirements

of IFRSs.

In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company, supplementary information which

analyses the Consolidated Income Statement between items of a revenue and capital nature has been

presented alongside the Consolidated Income Statement. In accordance with the Company’s status as a

UK investment company under Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006, net capital returns may not be

distributed by way of dividend.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets

and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical

experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which

form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,

or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The area where a higher degree of judgement or complexity arise, or areas where assumptions and estimates

significant to Consolidated Financial Statements relate to the valuation of unquoted investments. The most

significant techniques for estimation are described in the accounting policies below and in note 2.2 (f )

Investments.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies
(a) New standards, amendments or interpretations to existing standards

(i) The following standards, amendments or interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for 

the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2008, but are not currently relevant for the

Group:

• IFRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 – Group and treasury share transactions’. 

• IFRIC 12, ‘Service concession arrangements’. 

• IFRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 – the limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and their

interaction’.

(ii) The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are

mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods,

but the Group has not adopted them early:

• IAS 23 (amendment), ‘Borrowing costs’, effective from 1 January 2009. It requires an entity to

capitalise borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a

qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) as part of the

cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing those borrowing costs will be removed. The

Group will apply IAS 23 (amendment) from 1 January 2009.

• IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’, effective from 1 January 2009. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, ‘Segment

reporting’, and aligns segment reporting with the requirements of the US standard SFAS 131,

‘Disclosures about segments of an enterprise and related information’. The new standard requires a

‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented on the same basis as that

used for internal reporting purposes. The Group will apply IFRS 8 from 1 January 2009. The

expected impact is still being assessed in detail by the Management. 

• IAS 1 (revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The standard

is still subject to endorsement by the EU. The revised standard will prohibit the presentation of items

of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes in

equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented separately from owner changes in

equity. All non-owner changes in equity will be required to be shown in a performance statement,

but entities can choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement of

comprehensive income) or two statements (the income statement and statement of comprehensive

income). Where entities restate or reclassify comparative information, they will be required to

present a restated balance sheet as at the beginning comparative period in addition to the current

requirement to present balance sheets at the end of the current period and comparative period. The

Group and Company will apply IAS 1 (revised) from 1 January 2009, subject to endorsement by

the EU. The Management is assessing the presentational impact of the revised disclosure

requirements of this standard. 

• IAS 27 (revised), ‘Consolidated and separate financial statements’, (effective from 1 July 2009). The

amendment to the standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU. The revised standard requires

the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no

change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The

standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-

measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The Group will apply IAS

27 (revised) prospectively to transactions with non-controlling interests from 1 January 2010,

subject to endorsement by the EU. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued

• IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’ (effective from 1 July 2009). The revised standard is still

subject to endorsement by the EU. The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method

to business combinations, with some significant changes. For example, all payments to purchase a

business are to be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified

as debt subsequently re-measured through the income statement. There is a choice on an

acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair

vale or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All

acquisition-related costs should be expensed. The Group will apply IFRS 3 (revised) prospectively to

all business combinations from 1 January 2010, subject to endorsement by the EU.

• IAS 28 (amendment), ‘Investments in associates’ (and consequential amendments to IAS 32,

‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’, and IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’) (effective

from 1 January 2009). The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published

in May 2008. The amendment to the standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU. An

investment in an associate is treated as a single asset for the purposes of impairment testing. Any

impairment loss is not allocated to specific assets included within the investment, for example,

goodwill. Reversals of impairment are recorded as an adjustment to the investment balance to the

extent that the recoverable amount of the associate increases. The Group will apply the IAS 28

(amendment) to impairment tests related to investments in associates and any related impairment

losses from 1 January 2009, subject to endorsement by the EU.

• IAS 36 (amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’, (effective from 1 January 2009). The amendment is

part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. The amendment to the

standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU. Where fair value less costs to sell is calculated on

the basis of discounted cash flows, disclosures equivalent to those for value-in-use calculations should

be made. The Group and Company will apply the IAS 36 (amendment) and provide the required

disclosure where applicable for impairment tests from 1 January 2009, subject to endorsement by

the EU.

• IAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’, (effective from 1 January 2009). The

amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. The

amendment to the standard is still subject to endorsement by the EU. The amendment clarifies that

some rather than all financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance with

IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’ are examples of current assets and

liabilities respectively. The Group and Company will apply the IAS 39 (amendment) from 1 January

2009, subject to endorsement by the EU. It is not expected to have an impact on the Group or

Company’s Financial Statements.

• There are a number of minor amendments to IFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments: Disclosures’, IAS 8,

‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, IAS 10, ‘Events after the reporting

period’, IAS 18, ‘Revenue’, and IAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’, which are part of the IASB’s

annual improvements project published in May 2008 . The amendments to the standards are still

subject to endorsement by the EU. These amendments, subject to endorsement by the EU, are

unlikely to have an impact on the Group or Company's accounts and have, therefore, not been

analysed in detail.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued

(iii) The following interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published and are

mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 or later periods

but are not relevant for the Group’s operations:

• IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’ (effective from 1 July 2008). 

• IAS 16 (amendment), ‘Property, plant and equipment’ (and consequential amendment to IAS 7,

‘Statement of cash flows’) (effective from 1 January 2009). 

• IAS 29 (amendment), ‘Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies’ (effective from 1 January

2009). 

• IAS 31 (amendment), ‘Interests in joint ventures’, (and consequential amendments to IAS 32 and

IFRS 7) (effective from 1 January 2009). 

• IAS 32 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’, and IAS 1 (amendment), ‘Presentation

of financial statements’ – ‘Puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation’

(effective from 1 January 2009).

• IAS 38 (amendment), ‘Intangible assets’ (effective from 1 January 2009). 

• IAS 39 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement’ (effective from

1 January 2009).

• IAS 40 (amendment), ‘Investment property’ (and consequential amendments to IAS 16) (effective

from 1 January 2009). 

• IAS 41 (amendment), ‘Agriculture’ (effective from 1 January 2009). 

• IAS 20 (amendment), ‘Accounting for government grants and disclosure of government assistance’

(effective from 1 January 2009). 

• IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for construction of real estates’ (effective from 1 January 2009).  

(b) Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the results, assets and liabilities, and cash flows of the

Company and its subsidiaries, MIL, MCH, MCP and MCGP. All intra group transactions, balances,

income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

The interest of minority members is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and

liabilities recognised. Subsequently, minority interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets

in subsidiaries that is not held by the Group and are presented in the Consolidated Income Statement, and

within equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, separately from parent shareholders’ equity. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in the Consolidated Income Statement

from the effective date of acquisition.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting

policies used into line with those used by the Group.

In the Financial Statements of the Company, investments in subsidiaries are recognised at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued

(c) Foreign currency translation/transactions

(i) The Group’s functional and presentation currency is pounds Sterling since that is the currency of the

primary economic environment in which the Group operates. 

(ii) Transactions in currencies other than pounds Sterling are translated at the rates of exchange

prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date financial assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing. 

Gains and losses arising on translation are included in the Consolidated Income Statement and presented

as revenue or capital as appropriate.

(d) Recognition of income

Investment income includes dividends and interest on investments, while interest income on cash and

cash equivalents is shown as other income in the revenue return column of the Consolidated Income

Statement.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and using

the effective interest rate method, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts

through the expected life of the investment to that investment’s net carrying amount. Provision is made

for the element of interest income which is not expected to be received in line with the provision made

against the principal.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment has

been established, normally the ex-dividend date. Provision is made for any dividends not expected to be

received.

Income from limited partnership funds is recognised on an appropriation basis. The limited partnership

funds allocate income once a year, after the general partners’ priority profit share has been allocated in

the partnerships’ annual tax returns.

Management fee income is accrued over the period for which the service is provided.

(e) Expenses

All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. In respect of the analysis between revenue and capital

items presented within the Consolidated Income Statement, all expenses have been presented as revenue

items except as follows:

(i) Expenses which are incidental to the disposal of an investment are deducted from the disposal 

proceeds of the investment.

(ii) Expenses are split and presented partly as capital items where a connection with the maintenance or

enhancement of the value of the investments can be demonstrated. Accordingly, the investment

management fee (inclusive of the appropriated limited partnership funds’ general partners’ priority

profit share, any irrecoverable VAT thereon and any write back of VAT) has been allocated 50% to

revenue and 50% to capital. Tax relief attributable to the investment management fees charged to

capital is credited to the capital return. The Directors consider this apportionment

to be appropriate, having regard to the expected split of the long-term investment

returns as between revenue and capital.

(iii) Transaction costs are disclosed within the net gains and losses on investments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued

(f) Investments

Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for at settlement date for unquoted investments and trade date

for quoted investments. On initial recognition, the Group and the Company have designated all investments,

including investments in the subsidiaries, as held at fair value through profit or loss, with all gains and losses

reflected in the Consolidated Income Statement, including foreign currency gains and losses on translation of

investments at the balance sheet date.

The Group manages and evaluates the performance of these investments on a fair value basis in accordance

with its investment strategy and information about the Group is provided internally on this basis to the entity’s

key management personnel.

Significant investments made by the Company in limited partnership funds managed by 

LGV are accounted for as unquoted investments. The Company incorporates its attributable proportion,

as a limited partner, of the assets and liabilities and income and expenses of these funds. The fair value of

unquoted investments managed by LGV is calculated in accordance with the International Private Equity and

Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, which became effective from 1 January 2005.

MCF is valued at the manager’s valuation where this is consistent with the requirement to use fair value. The

Board and Investment Manager perform a review of the valuations provided by MCP. 

The valuations are based on the latest available information provided by the managers of the private equity

funds and these valuations may not be co-terminous with the year end of the Company.

Valuations are adjusted where better indications of fair value become available. 

(g) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables do not carry any interest and are short-term in nature and are accordingly

stated at carrying value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts.

(i) Borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance 

charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are accounted 

for on an accruals basis in the Consolidated Income Statement using the effective interest method and

are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period

in which they arise.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer

settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

(j) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

(k) Capital reserves

The capital return component of total income is taken to the non-distributable capital reserves

within the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 Significant Accounting Policies continued

( l ) Taxation

Tax recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement represents the sum of current tax and deferred tax

charged or credited in the year. In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the tax effect of 

different items of expense is allocated between revenue and capital on the same basis as the particular item 

to which it relates, using the marginal method.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on the difference between the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of

taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is

probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Investment trusts which have approval as such under Section 842 of the ICTA are not liable for taxation on

capital gains.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that

it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be

recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or

the liability settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Consolidated Income Statement, except when it relates to items

charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(m)Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the period in which

the dividends are approved by the Company's shareholders.

(n) Share capital

When the Company purchases its own shares the amount of the consideration paid, including directly

attributable costs, is deducted from equity until the shares are cancelled or realised.

2.3 Impairment of Goodwill
Goodwill is measured, after initial recognition, at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not

amortised but is tested for impairment at least on an annual basis to determine whether events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the goodwill may not be recoverable. If any such indication

exists, the resultant loss (the difference between the carrying value and recoverable amount) is recorded as a

charge in the Consolidated Income Statement. Impairment losses are not reversed.

There were no impairment losses in respect of goodwill for the year ended 31 December 2008 (31 December

2007: £148,000).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.4 Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operators engaged in providing products or services that are subject to

risks and returns which are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in

providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to risks and returns which

are different from those segments operating in other economic environments.

The Group is engaged in investing activities and private equity fund of funds management, focusing on 

achieving over the longer term a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index with dividends reinvested. 

The private equity fund of funds management business is undertaken by MCP. 

Segmental information is presented below. 

Year ended 31 December 2008 Year ended 31 December 2007

Private equity Private equity

Investing fund of funds Investing fund of funds

activities management Consolidated activities management Consolidated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Net (losses)/gains 

on investments (1,490) – (1,490) 7,928 – 7,928

Investment income 1,742 – 1,742 1,871 – 1,871

Other income 490 1,110 1,600 238 897 1,135

Investment

management fees (752) – (752) 60 – 60

Other operating

expenses (684) (344) (1,028) (400) (305) (705)

Goodwill written off – – – (148) – (148)

(Loss)/profit before 

finance costs and tax (694) 766 72 9,549 592 10,141

Finance costs (53) – (53) (223) – (223)

Tax credit/(expense) 150 2 152 (289) (147) (436)

(Loss)/profit for

the year (597) 768 171 9,037 445 9,482

Segment assets 46,688 327 47,015 48,341 366 48,707

Segment liabilities (362) (32) (394) (655) (55) (710)

Net segment assets 46,326 295 46,621 47,686 311 47,997

The Group makes investments into various geographical areas and the information about the total gains and losses

and income on investments and their fair value, analysed by geographical location, is presented in notes 3, 4 and 13

to the Financial Statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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3. NET (LOSSES)/GAINS ON INVESTMENTS

Quoted Unquoted Group Group

Investments Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.08 31.12.07

Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Realised gains/(losses) on sale 138 (4,636) 6,721 (3,373) (1,150) 9,519

Revaluations recognised in previous years (32) 274 (2,694) 1,020 (1,432) (6,914)

Realised gains/(losses) based on carrying

values at previous balance sheet date 106 (4,362) 4,027 (2,353) (2,582) 2,605

Fair value movements† (37) – 1,129 – 1,092 5,158

Net foreign currency gains on investments – – – – – 165

69 (4,362) 5,156 (2,353) (1,490) 7,928

Segmental Analysis

UK – (591) 2,434 (2,359) (516) 7,869

Denmark – – – – – 92

France 28 (1,127) – – (1,099) 24

Germany 10 (32) – – (22) 38

Netherlands 5 (217) – 6 (206) 84

Sweden – (349) – – (349) –

US & Canada 20 (1,385) (1,651) – (3,016) 34

Japan – (167) – – (167) –

Australia & Far East – (134) – – (134) –

Continental Europe 6 (360) 4,373 – 4,019 (213)

69 (4,362) 5,156 (2,353) (1,490) 7,928

†Includes effective interest adjustment recognised in capital account.

The total fair value movement estimated using a valuation technique was an increase of £1,129,000 (2007: increase

of £5,340,000).

Transaction costs on investments represent such costs incurred on both the purchase and disposal of those assets.

During the year, material disposals and significant fair value movements of the following unquoted investments

were made:

Disposals Total Fair Value

Cost Proceeds 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000 £’000

Classic Hospitals via LGV 4 1,995 3,905 3,172

IDH via LGV 5 1,108 3,656 3,942

Riverside Europe Fund III via MCF 791 2,406 5,049

Craegmoor Healthcare 1,492 1,529 1,767

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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3. NET (LOSSES)/GAINS ON INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Significant fair value movements
Fair value

increase/ Fair value

Cost (decrease) 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000 £’000

LGV 3 3,253 (540) 2,307

LGV 2 1,117 (240) 514

MCF 30,207 1,909 14,003

4. INVESTMENT INCOME

Year Year

ended ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000

Interest income on unquoted investments 814 1,013

Interest income on quoted investments 150 589

Dividend income on unquoted investments 312 141

Dividend income on UK quoted investments 157 112

Dividend income on overseas investments 309 16

1,742 1,871

Segmental Analysis

UK 1,275 1,165

Denmark – 154

France 124 175

Germany 20 86

Netherlands 32 77

US & Canada 234 90

Continental Europe 57 124

1,742 1,871
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

5. OTHER INCOME

Group Group

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Management fee income 1,100 – 1,100 891 – 891

Deposit interest 496 – 496 226 – 226

Other operating income 4 – 4 18 – 18

1,600 – 1,600 1,135 – 1,135

6. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEES

Group Group

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment management fees 100 104 204 131 137 268

Irrecoverable VAT thereon 4 – 4 6 – 6

Write back of prior years’ VAT – – – (364) (364) (728)

104 104 208 (227) (227) (454)

General partner’s priority profit share 272 272 544 197 197 394

376 376 752 (30) (30) (60)

Management fees are payable by the Group at rates varying between 0.5% per annum and 2% per annum of the

values of the Group’s assets, dependent upon the asset type. The rates per annum are 0.5% for cash and cash

equivalents; 1% for mezzanine, gilts, quoted corporate bonds, quoted equity and amounts invested in non-LGV

limited partnership funds excluding MCF; and 2% for unquoted equity not invested in LGV limited partnership

funds. For the investments in LGV limited partnership funds, a general partner’s priority profit share of 1.5% of

the amount committed is appropriated in the first year, followed by 1.5% in the second and subsequent years on

amounts invested and reserved for follow-on investments. Details of the terms of the Investment Management

Agreement are provided in the Directors’ Report on page 18.
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7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Group Group

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000

Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the Consolidated

and Company Financial Statements 51 76

Auditors’ remuneration - audit of the 

Company’s subsidiaries 23 9

Auditors’ remuneration - other services 34 15

Directors’ emoluments (note 8) 130 121

Other administrative expenses 677 311

Guaranteed drawings to minority interests 126 166

Exchange (gain)/loss (13) 7

1,028 705

Auditors’ remuneration for other services relate to the interim review of £17,000 (2007: £15,000) and tax

services of £9,000 (2007: £nil). 

Other administrative expenses include the costs of exploring options to realise value since the Company’s

most recent AGM and production of the circular which amounted to £221,000 (inclusive of VAT).

The Company has had no employees in either year.

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of each Director paid by the Company, in respect of qualifying services to the Group, were

as follows:

Group Group

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000

M Wooderson 33* 30*

I H Leslie Melville 13* 35*

D J B Shearer 28* 10*

D Rough – 8

W Maltby 25 25

P L F French 19 –

VAT 12 13

130 121

*these fees exclude VAT at 17.5% (VAT at 15% from 1 December 2008).

The emoluments of the highest paid Director amounted to £33,000 excluding VAT (2007: £35,000 excluding

VAT).
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9. FINANCE COSTS/(REVENUE)

Group Group

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000

Finance costs
Bank loans 53 137

Exchange losses on borrowings – 86

53 223

10.  TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Group Group

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

UK corporation tax at 28.5%

(2007: 30%):

Current tax for the year 150 (104) 46 591 (67) 524

Adjustments in respect of 

prior periods (164) – (164) (28) – (28)

Total current tax (14) (104) (118) 563 (67) 496

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal

of timing differences 17 (51) (34) (31) (29) (60)

Tax expense/(credit) on

ordinary activities 3 (155) (152) 532 (96) 436

Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year: 

The effective current tax rate for the year is lower (2007: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax

in the UK for a company of 28.5% (2007: 30%). The differences are explained below:
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10.  TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) CONTINUED

Group Group

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Return on ordinary activities

before taxation 1,885 (448) 1,437 2,194 7,724 9,918

Corporation tax at 28.5% (2007: 30%) 537 (128) 409 658 2,317 2,975

Effects of:

Adjustments to tax charge in respect

of prior periods (164) – (164) (28) – (28)

Difference between taxable and

accounting gains and losses 56 (875) (819) (5) (2,394) (2,399)

Eligible unrelieved foreign tax

accounting gains and losses 46 – 46 – – –

(Utilisation of )/increase in tax losses (489) 899 410 (62) 10 (52)

Deferred tax 17 (51) (34) (31) (29) (60)

Tax expense/(credit) on ordinary activities 3 (155) (152) 532 (96) 436

Factors which may affect future tax charges:

The Group has net unrelieved realised and unrealised losses and expenses carried forward of £20,968,000

(2007: £19,530,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses or expenses as at 

31 December 2008 or 31 December 2007, as it is considered more likely than not that there will be no

suitable profits emerging in future periods against which to relieve them.

Relief for these losses and expenses will only be obtained if there are suitable income and gains arising in

future periods.

The potential deferred tax asset unrecognised as at 31 December 2008 is £5,871,000 (2007: £5,566,000).

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate the tax relief on

expenses charged to capital is the “marginal” basis. Under this basis, to the extent that taxable income is

capable of being offset by expenses arising in the revenue account, no tax relief is taken in the form of

expenses charged to the capital account.
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11. DIVIDENDS

The following dividends were approved and paid by the Company:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000

Final dividend: 2.00p (2007: 2.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 726

Special dividend: 2.00p (2007: 1.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 363

The final dividend of 2.00p per ordinary share, for the year ended 31 December 2007, was paid on 8 May 2008

on 36,287,312 shares.

The special dividend of 2.00p per ordinary share, for the year ended 31 December 2007 in lieu of a 2008

interim dividend, was paid on 31 October 2008 on 36,287,312 shares. 

The following dividends were proposed by the Company and are subject to approval by shareholders at the

forthcoming AGM. These proposed dividends, which form the basis of Section 842 of the ICTA, have not

been included as liabilities in these Financial Statements.

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000

Proposed final dividend: 2.00p (2007: 2.00p) per ordinary 2p share 726 726

Proposed special dividend: 3.00p (2007: 2.00p) per ordinary 2p share 1,089 726

12. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data:

Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

Revenue Capital Revenue Capital

Return Return Total Return Return Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Earnings for the purposes of basic and

diluted earnings per share being net 

profit attributable to equity holders 1,804 (1,711) 93 1,563 7,820 9,383

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

for the purpose of calculating basic and 

diluted earnings per share 36,287,312 36,287,312

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary 

share (pence) 5.0 (4.7) 0.3 4.3 21.6 25.9
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13. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS

Quoted Unquoted Group Group

Investments Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.08 31.12.07

Group Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value at 1 January 2008 9,962 8,893 23,143 3,377 45,375 37,078

Movements in the year:

Purchases at cost – 18,011 16,388 – 34,399 28,015

Sales - proceeds (9,936) (22,542) (11,111) (1,043) (44,632) (27,572)

- realised gains/(losses) 106 (4,362) 4,027 (2,353) (2,582) 2,605

Fair value movements† (132) – 1,129 19 1,016 5,084

Unrealised currency
movements – – – – – 165

Fair value at 31 December 2008 – – 33,576 – 33,576 45,375

Opening cost 9,962 9,167 22,582 4,287 45,998 35,911

Closing cost – – 34,577 – 34,577 45,998

Segmental Analysis

UK – – 4,289 – 4,289 22,857

France – – – – – 4,725

Germany – – – – – 1,877

Netherlands – – – – – 1,559

US – – 10,982 – 10,982 6,088

Continental Europe – – 18,305 – 18,305 8,269

Fair value at 31 December 2008 – – 33,576 – 33,576 45,375

† Includes capitalised interest of £129,000 (2007: £246,000) and accrued interest movements.
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13. MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

Quoted Unquoted Company Company

Investments Investments Year ended Year ended

Limited 31.12.08 31.12.07

Company Bonds Equity Partnerships Equity Total Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fair value at 1.1.08 9,962 8,893 23,143 602 42,600 34,620

Movements in the year:

Purchases at cost – 18,011 16,388 – 34,399 28,015

Sales - proceeds (9,936) (22,542) (11,111) (271) (43,860) (26,030)
- realised gains/(losses) 106 (4,362) 4,027 (41) (270) 2,582

Fair value movements† (132) – 1,129 162 1,159 3,248

Unrealised currency
movements – – – – – 165

Fair value at 31.12.08 – – 33,576 452 34,028 42,600

Opening cost 9,962 9,167 22,582 14,420 56,131 44,617

Closing cost – – 34,577 14,004 48,581 56,131

†Includes capitalised interest of £(nil) (2007: £nil) and accrued interest movements.

Opening and closing cost of investments includes subsidiary undertakings at book cost of £13,970,000 (2007:

£13,970,000).

The Company owns 100% of the issued ordinary share capital and voting rights of MIL, which is registered in

England and Wales and whose business is the provision of equity and mezzanine finance. In the Financial Statements

of the Parent Company, the investment in MIL was valued at nil, being the net assets of MIL at 1 January 2008 and

31 December 2008.

The Company owns 100% of the issued ordinary share capital and voting rights of MCH, a holding company

registered in England and Wales. In the Financial Statements of the Parent Company , the investment in MCH was

valued at £451,000 being the net assets of MCH at (December 2007: £228,000).

The Company has, via MCH, a 90% interest in MCP, which is registered in Scotland and whose business is the

provision of investment management services. This investment was valued at £266,000 at 31 December 2008 

(31 December 2007: £259,000) being the proportionate share of net assets of MCP and was considered in the

valuation of MCH above. The value of the investment in MCP includes the net liabilities of MCGP of £6,000 

(31 December 2007: net assets of £6,000).
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2007 2008 2007

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due within one year:

Prepayments and accrued income 956 937 943 930

Loan to subsidiary† – – 12,247 13,069

Less provisions for liabilities of
subsidiary – – (12,226) (9,953)

956 937 964 4,046

†The loan to subsidiary is interest free and payable on demand.

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2007 2008 2007

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 252 409 29 150

Short-term deposits 11,908 1,986 11,600 1,650

12,160 2,395 11,629 1,800

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 2.1% (2007: 5.9%) and these deposits have an average

maturity of 32 days.

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2007 2008 2007

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current - due within one year:

Accruals 278 261 237 189

278 261 237 189
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17. BORROWINGS

The Company has a medium term revolving credit facility of £35 million, repayable by June 2012. Interest

accrues at 1.85% over LIBOR or EURIBOR. This loan can be drawn in any currency which the facility

agent confirms is available in the London foreign exchange market. As at 31 December 2008 the amount

drawn from this facility was £nil (31 December 2007: £nil).

18. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Group Company
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2007 2008 2007

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax liability 116 150 116 150

The provision for deferred tax consists of the following amounts due to the difference between tax and

accounting gains:

Group and Company
£’000    

At 31 December 2007 150

Release of provisions during the year (34)

At 31 December 2008 116

19. SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company Group and Company

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 Number £’000 Number

Authorised ordinary shares of 2p each 1,000 50,000,000 1,000 50,000,000

Allotted, called-up and fully paid
ordinary shares of 2p each 726 36,287,312 726 36,287,312

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no right to fixed income.
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20. EQUITY

Group Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue Minority

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Interest
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2008 726 8,598 109 45,778 (14,347) 7,086 47

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,804 203

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,452) –

Guaranteed drawings to

minority interests – – – – – – (125)

Profit share paid to

minority interests – – – – – – (95)

Transfer on disposals

of investments – – – 1,427 (1,427) – –

Losses on disposals

of investments – – – (2,582) – – –

50% management fees – – – (376) – – –

Taxation credited to capital – – – 104 51 – –

Fair value movements† – – – (37) 1,129 – –

At 31 December 2008 726 8,598 109 44,314 (14,594) 7,438 30

Company Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2008 726 8,598 109 59,340 (23,715) 2,892

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,556

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,452)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 2,314 (2,314) –

Losses on disposals of investments – – – (273) – –

50% management fees – – – (376) – –

Taxation credited to capital – – – 93 51 –

Fair value movements† – – – (37) (921) –

At 31 December 2008 726 8,598 109 61,061 (26,899) 2,996

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company’s profit and loss account is not

separately presented. The profit for the year ended 31 December 2008 for the Company was £93,000.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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20. EQUITY CONTINUED

Group Capital Capital Capital
Share Share Redemption Reserve Reserve Revenue Minority

Capital Premium Reserve Realised Unrealised Reserve Interest
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007 726 8,598 109 36,560 (12,949) 6,612 –

Minority interest on

acquisition – – – – – – 7

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,563 265

Goodwill written off – – – (148) – – –

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089) –

Guaranteed drawings to

minority interests – – – – – – (166)

Profit share paid to

minority interests – – – – – – (59)

Transfer on disposals

of investments – – – 6,914 (6,914) – –

Gains on disposals

of investments – – – 2,514 – – –

50% management fees – – – (334) – – –

Write back of prior

years’ VAT – – – 364 – – –

Taxation credited

to capital – – – 67 29 – –

Fair value movements† – – – 90 5,068 – –

Foreign exchange gains

on investments – – – 91 165 – –

Foreign exchange (losses)/ 

gains on financing loans – – – (340) 254 – –

At 31 December 2007 726 8,598 109 45,778 (14,347) 7,086 47

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.
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Company Share Capital Capital Capital
Share premium redemption reserve reserve Revenue

capital account reserve realised unrealised reserve
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January 2007 726 8,598 109 49,840 (22,556) 2,939

Profit for the year – – – – – 1,042

Dividends paid – – – – – (1,089)

Transfer on disposals of investments – – – 6,817 (6,817) –

Gains on disposals of investments – – – 2,514 – –

50% management fees – – – (334) – –

Write back of prior years’ VAT – – – 364 – –

Taxation credited to capital – – – – 29 –

Fair value movements† – – – 90 5,474 –

Foreign exchange gains on investments – – – 68 165 –

Foreign exchange losses on

financing loans – – – (19) (10) –

At 31 December 2007 726 8,598 109 59,340 (23,715) 2,892

†Includes interest income on investments during the year.

21. NET ASSETS PER ORDINARY SHARE

The basic total net assets per ordinary share is based on the net assets attributable to equity holders shown

in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31 December 2008 and on 36,287,312 (31 December 2007:

36,287,312) ordinary shares, being the number of ordinary shares in issue at 31 December 2008. The net

asset per ordinary share includes current year revenue reserves.

There is no dilution effect and therefore no difference between the diluted total net assets per ordinary share and

the basic total net assets per ordinary share stated above.

22. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY HOLDERS’ FUNDS

Group Group

31 December 2008 31 December 2007
£’000 £’000

Opening equity holders’ funds 47,950 39,656

Total recognised gains and losses: revenue 1,882 1,662

Total recognised gains and losses: capital (1,711) 7,820

Equity dividends (1,452) (1,089)

Minority interest share in profits for the year (78) (99)

Closing equity holders’ funds 46,591 47,950

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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23. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

The following were subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 31 December 2008:

Country of Holdings Net Profit/
operation, and voting assets/ (loss)

registration and rights (liabilities) before tax
incorporation % £’000 £’000

Mithras Investments Limited England 100 (12,225) (2,272)

A subsidiary of Mithras Investment Trust plc, incorporated on 19 January 1990, to carry on business as an

investment company.

Mithras Capital Holdings Limited England 100 451 693

A subsidiary of Mithras Investment Trust plc, incorporated on 6 February 2007, to carry on the business of

a holding company.

Mithras Capital Partners LLP England 90 295 769

A subsidiary of Mithras Capital Holdings Limited, acquired on 30 March 2007, to carry on the business of

providing investment management services.

Mithras Capital Partners GP Limited Scotland 90 (6) (15)

A subsidiary of Mithras Capital Partners LLP, incorporated on 9 June 2006, to carry on the business of

providing investment management services.

During the year the Company received a dividend of £480,000 from Mithras Capital Holdings Limited.

No dividends were paid by the other subsidiaries during the year.

24. GUARANTEES, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)   Guarantees

The Company has agreed to provide such financial support to MIL as it may require to continue trading as

a going concern.

The Company has guaranteed all the borrowings of MIL in favour of Lloyds Banking Group as lender.

These borrowings amounted to £nil as at 31 December 2008 (2007: £nil).

Loans drawn down from the medium term credit facility accrue interest at 1.85% over LIBOR or

EURIBOR.

(b)   Commitments

The Company has made a commitment to invest up to £60 million in MCF. The Company has an

outstanding commitment of £29.0 million to MCF at 31 December 2008.

The Company has outstanding commitments in LGV 2 and LGV 3 of £0.3 million and £1.1 million at

31 December 2008 respectively.
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25. INVESTMENT MANAGER’S INCENTIVE SCHEME

Under the terms of the Investment Management Agreement dated 14 February 1994, as subsequently amended,

which remained in force throughout the year, certain directors and managers of LGV are entitled to purchase

7.5% in total of the equity shares or warrants in each of the directly held investments subscribed for by the

Company. This is known as the co-investment scheme. 

These employees of LGV held investments totalling £7,000 as at 31 December 2008 (2007: £66,000). They

may not dispose of their holdings before the Company has had an opportunity to do so.

Since the Company started investing in the LGV Private Equity Limited Partnership Funds (“the Funds”), the

above Investment Manager's co-investment scheme for private equity investments has ceased. It has been

replaced by a carried interest scheme via the Funds. The economic interest of the Investment Manager’s

employees participating in the carried interest scheme is aligned with that of third party investors by co-investing

in the Funds. Certain performance conditions are applied whereby any gains achieved through the carried

interest associated with the Funds are conditional upon a certain minimum return being generated for investors.

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on

consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company entered into the following transactions with

related parties:

(a) Under the Investment Management Agreements dated 28 July 2004 (as amended) and 19 December

1995 (as amended), the Group paid fees totalling £208,000 (2007: £306,000) (inclusive of VAT) to

LGV, of which £16,000 was outstanding at 31 December 2008 (2007: £68,000).

(b) Under the terms of the LGV Private Equity Funds’ Limited Partnership Agreements, in the event that

the income and capital gains of a partnership in any accounting year are less than the amount to be

allocated, any deficiency not already drawn down by the general partner may be advanced as an interest

free loan. In the event that any part of the general partner’s share then outstanding is subsequently 

satisfied by an allocation of net income or capital gains to the general partner, such allocation shall be 

applied in the discharge of an equivalent amount of such loan. The Company’s share of the amount

appropriated to the general partner as at 31 December 2008 was £114,000 (2007: £302,000).

(c) The Company invests in companies and limited partnerships in which other funds managed by LGV 

invest.

(d) Details of the co-investment and the carried interest schemes in which executives and directors of LGV

participate are given in note 25.

(e) The Company invests in MCF, which is managed by MCP. A carried interest scheme 

operates for the founder partners in the scheme, whereby any gains achieved through the carried interest 

associated with MCF are conditional upon a certain minimum return being generated for investors.
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS CONTINUED

(f ) Under the terms of the MCP Limited Liability Partnership Agreement dated 30 March 2007, the

minority interests are entitled to guaranteed drawings which rank ahead of any profit allocation to

MCH. In the event that the profits of MCP are insufficient to meet the guaranteed drawings, the

deficiency is paid to minority interests by way of an interest-free loan from MCP. In the event that any

part of the guaranteed drawings then outstanding is subsequently satisfied by an allocation of profits,

such allocation shall be applied in the discharge of an equivalent amount of such loan. The guaranteed

drawings paid to minority interests amounted to £126,000 for the year ended 31 December 2008

(2007: £166,000).

(g) The chairman of MCP, Mr A R B Johnson, in his personal capacity held 3.84% of the ordinary share

capital of the Company as at 13 March 2009.

(h) Legal & General Assurance Society Limited held 34.68% of the ordinary share capital of the Company

as at 13 March 2009.

(i) The total amounts paid to Directors of the Company are outlined in note 8, of which £29,000 

including VAT was outstanding at 31 December 2008 (2007: £40,000).

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company is an investment company as defined by Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006 and

conducts its affairs so as to qualify as an investment trust under the provisions of Section 842 of the ICTA.

The Group’s financial instruments comprise:

(a) Securities primarily in unquoted companies held in accordance with the Group’s investment objective

set out below (see note 13). 

(b) Participation in limited partnership funds which invest primarily in unquoted companies held 

accordance with the Group’s investment objective (see note 13).

(c) A loan facility,  the main purpose of which is to raise finance for the Group’s operations (see note 17).

(d) Cash and liquid resources that arise directly from the Group’s operations, including gilts and quoted

corporate bonds (see notes 13 and 15).

The Group’s current objective is to provide shareholders, over the longer term, a total return in excess of the FTSE 

All-Share Index with dividends reinvested. The Group aims to achieve this by investing primarily in private equity

whilst maintaining the Company’s investment trust status and its status as a PEP and ISA qualifying investment.

Investments are made with an anticipated holding period of three to five years. Investment agreements will,

however, usually provide that any loans advanced to investee companies are for a longer period than this. The

agreements will usually provide for full repayment on the sale or flotation of investee companies.

In pursuing its objectives, the Group faces risks to both assets and revenue. These risks, and the Board’s approach

to the management of them, which is largely unchanged from 2007, are as follows:
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Risk

Market The Group’s assets consist principally of

unquoted investments. The value of these

investments is partially determined by

market forces.

Currency The Group’s assets consist of a

combination of Sterling and non- Sterling

investments. The value of non-Sterling

investments and the income thereon can

change according to movements in

exchange rates.

Interest Exposure to interest rate movements

Rate on income on cash deposits and any

mismatch between mezzanine

investments and bank borrowing. 

Credit Failure of investee companies to pay

interest on, or to repay, debt securities

within the prescribed time.

Failure of the Group to meet its banking

covenants due to poor performance of its

investments.

Failure by counterparties to deliver

securities for which the Group has paid, or

to pay for securities which the Group has

delivered.

Failure by counterparties to return

maturing cash deposits.

Management of Risk

All the investments of the Group are held at fair value

as at 31 December 2008, in accordance with the

Group’s valuation policy, details of which are given in

note 2.2 (f) Investments. The Board meets quarterly to

review investment performance and financial results. It

monitors compliance with the Group’s objectives and is

responsible for investment strategy, asset allocation and

gearing. 

The Group’s investments are across a range of industry

sectors.

The Group has exposure to currency fluctuations on its

equity and non-mezzanine investments. It is the

Group’s policy to offset non-Sterling denominated

mezzanine investments using currency borrowings, so

that there is minimal currency exposure. The Board

reviews and agrees the policy for managing these risks at

its quarterly meetings.

The Group currently invests cash balances in fixed rate

short term deposits. The Group finances its mezzanine

investments through a loan facility and out of retained

profits. The loan facility is at floating rates of interest.

The interest rate risk on the loan facility is mitigated by

charging interest on the mezzanine loan investments at

the same rate as the loan facility plus a margin. All

mezzanine investments were realised during 2007 and,

as at 31 December 2008, the Group had no bank

borrowings.

The Board manages the credit risk inherent in the

Group’s portfolio by ensuring full and timely access to

relevant information from the Investment Manager. The

Board meets quarterly and reviews investment

performance and the financial results of the underlying

investee companies.

The Board monitors the Group’s banking covenants at

least quarterly and takes necessary actions to maintain

compliance.

Transactions in unquoted securities are generally either

settled through lawyers or paid to existing portfolio

companies.

Transactions in listed quoted securities are settled against

delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is

considered minimal. 

Cash deposits are placed with counterparties with a

recognised credit rating of A1 or equivalent.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Risk

Liquidity Difficulty in realising assets or

otherwise raising funds to meet

commitments associated with financial

instruments.

Management of Risk

The Group’s investments are principally in unquoted

companies which are inherently illiquid. Investments are

funded out of shareholders’ funds and bank borrowings. As

at 31 December 2008, the Group had no mezzanine

investments and bank borrowings.

The Group seeks to have cash generally available to meet

short-term financial needs and also has the power to take out

borrowings, both short and long-term. Its current loan

facility is £35 million, which expires within five years.

Market price risk exposures
Year ended Year ended

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

£’000 £’000

Unquoted funds 2,120 12,517

Unquoted fund of funds 31,456 14,003

Quoted private equity – 8,893

Quoted bonds – 9,962

33,576 45,375

Market price sensitivity
Changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk include changes in earnings multiples used in

valuing unquoted equity investments, as described in note 2.2f, benchmark interest rates and foreign

exchange rates.

The profit of the Group is sensitive to the factors mentioned above. The sensitivity analysis presented below

is based on reasonable possible changes to market price and other factors which may affect the fair value of

investments. The effect on revenue return is not significant at either balance sheet dates.

At 31 December 2008, if the value of investments had increased or decreased by the reasonable possible

percentage changes listed below, the effect on the fair value of investments, capital return, total return and

net assets would have been higher or lower by:

Reasonable possible
change to market 2008 2007

market price % £’000 £’000

Unquoted funds 10 212 1,252

Unquoted fund of funds 5 1,573 700

Quoted private equity 10 – 889

Quoted bonds 2 – 199

1,785 3,040

The Directors are of the opinion that, compared to the unquoted fund investments in the Group’s portfolio,

the investments in the MCF fund of funds are far more diversified by geographical region, market sector and

number of underlying investments and therefore MCF has a lower overall exposure market price risks. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Foreign currency risk exposure Foreign Net
currency foreign

equity currency
investments assets

Currency £’000 £’000

31 December 2008
Euro 18,305 19,248
US Dollar 10,982 10,982

29,287 30,230

31 December 2007
Euro 8,357 8,357

US Dollar 4,199 4,199

12,556 12,556

The amounts presented above are not representative of the exposures to foreign currency throughout the year

as significant investment was made into foreign currency equity investments. The maximum and minimum

exposures to foreign currency during the year were:

2008 2007

Maximum Minimum Maximum Minimum

Currency £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Euro 20,366 12,644 8,357 1,841

US Dollar 10,318 5,189 4,199 –

Japanese Yen 9 – – –

Canadian Dollar 1 – – –

30,694 17,833 12,556 1,841

Foreign currency sensitivity
The profit of the Group is sensitive to fluctuations in exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis presented below is

based on the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments and on percentages applied to the exchange rates at

31 December, which have been determined based on market volatility in exchange rates over the year. The effect

on revenue return is not significant at either balance sheet dates.

At 31 December 2008, if exchange rates had strengthened or weakened against the pound Sterling, with all other

variables held constant, the combined effect on the capital return, total return and net assets would have been an

increase or a decrease of:

2008 2007

Effects of Effects of Effects of Effects of

Change in exchange exchange Change in exchange exchange

exchange rate rate exchange rate rate

rates increase decrease rates increase decrease

Currency % £’000 £’000 % £’000 £’000

Euro +/-10 (1,664) 2,034 +/-7 (547) 629

US Dollar +/-5 (523) 578 +/-4 (162) 175

(2,187) 2,612 (709) 804
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Interest rate risk exposures

Floating Floating Fixed
rate rate rate Net

assets liabilities assets Total
Currency £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 31 December 2008
Pound Sterling 2,755 – 13,878 16,633

At 31 December 2007

Pound Sterling 3,632 – 20,060 23,692

The amounts presented above are not representative of the exposures to interest rates throughout the year as

the levels of monetary assets and liabilities have changed. The maximum and minimum exposures to interest

rate risk during the year were:

2008 2007

Maximum Minimum Maximum Minimum

Financial instrument £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Floating rate assets 3,288 7,695 243 4,097

Fixed rate assets 26,842 5,701 30,027 19,303

30,130 13,396 30,270 23,400

Interest rate sensitivity
The profit of the Group is sensitive to changes in interest rates. The sensitivity analysis presented below

assumes reasonable changes in interest rates. The effect on capital return is not significant at either balance

sheet dates.

At 31 December 2008, if interest rates had increased or decreased by 0.25%, with all other variables held

constant, the effect on revenue return, total return and net assets would have been an increase or decrease

respectively of:

2008 2007

Financial instrument £’000 £’000

Floating rate assets 7 9

Interest rate changes also affect the price of fixed interest rate assets and hence the capital return, but this

impact has not been determined. This is an element of market price risk and is included in that disclosure.

Floating rate liabilities are subject to interest rates at 1.85% over LIBOR and EURIBOR.

The Group has a borrowing facility of £35 million (2007: £35 million) that expires in June 2012. The

undrawn element of this facility is £35 million (2007: £35 million).
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Floating rate assets are subject to interest rates which are reset semi-annually and are based on LIBOR and

EURIBOR plus margins varying between 1% and 4%.

Fixed rate monetary assets denominated in pound Sterling, excluding preference shares which have no

maturity, have a weighted average effective interest rate of 3.8% (2007: 4.1%) and a weighted average

maturity of 0.9 years (2007: 2.6 years).

The Group does not trade in financial instruments.

Credit risk exposures

31 December 31 December

2008 2007

Total Total
Credit risk rating % %

AAA 6 62

A1 81 12

A1+ – 21

Non-rated 13 5

100 100

Compared to the amounts included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31 December the maximum

exposure to credit risk during the year was as follows:

2008 2007

Balance Maximum Balance Maximum

sheet exposure sheet exposure

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investments 33,576 33,734 45,375 13,051

Current assets:

Trade and other receivables 956 928 937 775

Cash and cash equivalents 12,160 21,044 2,395 2,395

Current tax asset 323 – – –

47,015 55,706 48,707 16,221

None of the Group’s financial liabilities are past due or impaired.

All unquoted investments are managed as equity investments with exposure to market risk. 
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Liquidity risk exposures

Greater
Less than 3-12 than
1 month months 1 year Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

31 December 2008
Trade and other payables 187 91 – 278
Deferred tax – – 116 116

187 91 116 394

31 December 2007

Trade and other payables 261 – – 261

Current tax 96 203 – 299

Deferred tax – – 150 150

357 203 150 710

28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to ensure that the Group has adequate resources to continue

as a going concern, so that it can achieve a total return in excess of the FTSE All-Share Index, whilst

maintaining its status as an investment trust. 

Investments are funded out of shareholders’ funds and bank borrowings. The Group has a £35m credit facility

in place, which can be drawn upon by MIT or MIL subject to certain financial covenants being met:

• The ratio of total consolidated assets, after deducting current liabilities, to total net debt must be at 

least 3:1. As at 31 December 2008, MIT and MIL had total net cash of £11.6m (2007: net cash, including

quoted corporate bonds, £11.9m).

• The net assets must be at least £35m. As at 31 December 2008, the tangible net worth was £44.8m 

(2007: £46.4m), which equates to the equity attributable to equity holders of the Company of £46.6m

(2007: £48.0m) less revenue return attributable to equity holders of the Company of £1.8m (2007:

£1.6m).

The private equity fund of funds management business is regulated by the FSA and must meet certain capital

requirements to operate. As at 31 December 2008, this company’s capital was above the regulatory capital

requirements by £295,000 (2007: £65,000).
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NOTICE OF MEETING

This year’s AGM will be held at the offices of JPMorgan Cazenove Limited, 20 Moorgate, London, EC2R 6DA

on Wednesday, 13 May 2009 at 12.00 noon. You will be asked to consider and pass the resolutions below.

Resolution 10 will be proposed as special a resolution. All other resolutions will be proposed as ordinary

resolutions.

Ordinary business

1 To receive the Directors’ Report and audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2008.

2 To declare that a final dividend of 2.00p per ordinary share of 2 pence each be paid for the year ended

31 December 2008.

3 To declare that a special dividend of 3.00p per ordinary share of 2 pence each be paid for the year ended

31 December 2008.

4 To re-elect Mr Mike Wooderson as a Director of the Company.

5 To re-elect Mr William Maltby as a Director of the Company.

6 To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors of the Company, to hold office until conclusion of the

next Annual General Meeting at which Financial Statements are laid before the Company.

7 To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Special business:

8 To approve the Directors’ Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2008.

9 THAT, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised, pursuant

to Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 (the “Act”), to exercise all powers of the Company to allot relevant

securities (within the meaning of Section 80 of the Act) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £274,254

(being the remaining authorised but unissued share capital on 13 March 2009) in substitution for all previous

such authorities, provided that this authority (unless previously revoked, varied or renewed) shall expire on

the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company in 2010 except that the Company may at any time prior

to the expiry of such authority make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities

to be allotted after the expiry of such authority and the Directors of the Company may allot relevant securities

in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if this authority had not expired.   

10 THAT, subject to the passing of Resolution 9 above, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby

authorised, pursuant to Section 95 of the Act, to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 94 of

the Act), pursuant to the authority given in accordance with Section 80 of the Act under the authority

conferred by Resolution 9 above as if Section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to such allotment, provided that

this authority shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities:

(a) in connection with a rights issue in favour of shareholders where the equity securities respectively

attributable to the interests of all shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective

numbers of shares held by them (subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors of the

Company may think fit in connection with fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems arising

in connection with the laws of, or requirements of, any recognised regulatory body or stock exchange in

any territory); and
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(b) the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate

nominal value of £36,287 (being 5% of the total share capital in issue on 13 March 2009) and shall expire

fifteen months from the date of the passing of this resolution or, if earlier, on the date of the next AGM

of the Company except that the Company may, at any time prior to such expiry, make an offer or

agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the

Directors of the Company may allot equity securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the

power conferred hereby had not expired.

*The recommendation for the re-election of Messrs Wooderson and Maltby can be found on page 18. 

Biographies for Messrs Wooderson and Maltby are set out on page 14 .

Registered Office By Order of the Board

55 Moorgate, London EC2R 6PA BNP Paribas Secretarial Services Limited

Registered in England & Wales, No. 2478424 13 March 2009

Annual General Meeting Location Map

NOTICE OF MEETING CONTINUED

KINGS ARMS YARD

COPTHAL CL.

GREAT SWAN ALLEY

LONDON  WALL

E
V

A 
N

OT
R

O
M

G
OR

HT

C
O

LE
M

AN
 S

T

YR
WEJ 

DL
O

POULTRY

C O R N H I L L L E A D E N H A L L  S T.

T H R E A D N E E D L E S T.

PRIN
C

ES STREET

IR
O

N
M

O
N

G
ER

M
O

O
RG

AT
E

THROGMORTON ST.LOTHBURY

GRESHAM ST.

LIVERPOOL  STREET

FINSBURY CIRCUS

20 MOORGATE

BI
SH

O
PSGATEOLD

BROAD STREET

Moorgate Liverpool St

Bank

C
O

PT
H

AL
  

AV
EN

U
EMOORGATE 

PLACE

BA
SI

N
G

H
ALL

ST.

TELEGRAPH ST.



75

NOTICE OF MEETING CONTINUED

NOTES

1. In accordance with Regulation 41(i) of the Uncertified Securities Regulations 2001, only persons entered on the
register of members of the Company by 6pm on 11 May 2009 or their duly appointed proxies, shall have the right
to attend or vote at the above meeting. If the meeting is adjourned to a time not more than 48 hours after the
specific time applicable to the original meeting, that time will also apply for the purpose of entitlement of members
to attend and vote (and for the purposes of determining the number of votes they may cast) at the adjourned
meeting. If however the meeting is adjourned for a longer period of time, to be so entitled, members must be
entered on the Company’s register of members at the time which is not later than 6.00 pm two days prior to the
adjourned meeting or, if the Company gives notice of the adjourned meeting, at a time specified in the notice.

2. Pursuant to Section 324 of the Companies Act 2006, a member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled
to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote in their place. A proxy need not also be a member of the
Company. To be valid, the forms of proxy should be completed and lodged with the Company’s Registrars, Equiniti
Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex, BN99 62L  not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting. Lodgement of the form of proxy will not preclude a
member from attending and voting at the meeting. To appoint more than one proxy, (an) additional proxy form(s)
may be obtained by contacting Equiniti Limited on 0871 384 2498 (calls to this number are charged at 8p per
minute from a BT landline. Other telephony provider costs may vary) or you may copy this form.

3. Members (and any proxies or corporate representatives appointed) agree, by attending the meeting, that they are
expressly requesting and are willing to receive any communications relating to the Company’s securities made at the
meeting.

4. This right does not apply to persons nominated to receive information rights pursuant to Section 146 of the
Companies Act 2006. Persons nominated to receive information rights under Section 146 of the Companies Act
2006 have been sent this Notice of Meeting and are hereby informed, in accordance with Section 149(2) of the
Companies Act 2006, that they may have the right under an agreement with the registered member by whom they
were appointed, or to have someone else appointed, as proxy for the meeting. If they have such right or do not wish
to exercise it, they may have a right under such an agreement to give instructions to the member as to the exercise
of voting rights. Nominated persons should contact the registered member by whom they were nominated in
respect of these arrangements.

In order to facilitate voting by corporate representatives at the meeting, arrangements will be put in place at the
meeting so that (i) if a corporate shareholder has appointed the Chairman of the meeting as its corporate
representative with instructions to vote on a poll in accordance with the directions of all the other corporate
representatives for that shareholder at the meeting, then on a poll these corporate representatives will give voting
directions to the Chairman. The Chairman will vote (or withhold a vote) as corporate representative in accordance
with those directions; and (ii) if more than one corporate representative for the same corporate shareholder attends
the meeting but the corporate shareholder has not appointed the Chairman of the meeting as its corporate
representative, a designated corporate representative will be nominated, from those corporate representatives who
attend, who will vote on a poll and the other corporate  representatives will give voting directions to that designated
corporate representative. Corporate shareholders are referred to the guidance issues by the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators on proxies and corporate representatives – www.icsa.org.uk – for further details of
this procedure. The guidance includes a sample form of representative letter if the Chairman is being appointed as
described in (i) above.

5. The following documents will be available for inspection at the registered office of the Company during usual
business hours on any weekday (except Public Holidays) until the date of the meeting and at the place of the
meeting for a period of 15 minutes prior to and during the meeting::

(a) A statement of all transactions of each Director and of their family interests in the share capital of the Company;

(b) The Memorandum and Articles of Association; and

(c) Terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive Directors.

6. None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company.

7. In accordance with Disclosure and Transparency Rule 6.1.12(2) as at 13 March 2009 (being the latest business day
prior to the publication of this Notice), the Company’s issued share capital consisted of 36,287,312 ordinary shares,
carrying one vote each.
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ANNOUNCEMENT OF FINAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

• 13 March 2009

ANNOUNCEMENT OF INTERIM RESULTS FOR THE HALF YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2009

• August 2009

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

• 13 May 2009

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS ON ORDINARY SHARES

Declared 2008:

• Final dividend of 2.00p Paid on 28 May 2008 to shareholders on

the register of members on 11 April 2008.

• Special dividend of 2.00p Paid on 31 October 2008 to shareholders on

the register of members on 26 September 2008.

Declared 2009:

• Final dividend of 2.00p Payable on 18 May 2009 to shareholders on the 

register of members on 27 March 2009.

• Special dividend of 3.00p Payable on 30 October 2009 to shareholders on

the register of members on 25 September 2009.

SHAREHOLDER HELPLINE

0871 601 5366

Calls to this number are charged at 8p per minute from a BT landline. Other telephone providers costs may

vary.

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
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